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Item 2.02. Results of Operations and Financial Condition.

On September 21, 2021, Hyatt Hotels Corporation (the “Company”) distributed certain information to potential investors, which is attached as Exhibit 99.1
to this Form 8-K. The information included in Exhibit 99.1 regarding the Company’s preliminary estimates of revenue, system-wide RevPAR and net rooms
growth is incorporated by reference herein.

The information furnished under Item 2.02 in this Form 8-K shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing made
by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act, except as set forth by specific reference in such
filing.

Item 7.01. Regulation FD Disclosure.

Recent Developments

On September 21, 2021, the Company distributed certain information to potential investors, which is attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 8-K and
incorporated by reference herein.

The information furnished under Item 7.01 in this Form 8-K shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise
subject to the liabilities of that section and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing made by the Company under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, except as set forth by specific reference in such filing.

Item 8.01. Other Events.

Information Related to the Apple Leisure Group Transaction

Supplementary Risk Factors

The Company is supplementing the risk factors described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020,
under the section titled “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A, in connection with the previously announced transaction by which the Company, acting through
an affiliate, agreed to acquire Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings L.P. (doing business as Apple Leisure Group) (“ALG”) and Casablanca Global GP
Limited, ALG’s general partner (together, “Apple Leisure Group”), pursuant to a definitive Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Transaction”).

Information with respect to certain material risks related to the Transaction is attached as Exhibit 99.2 hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

Financial Statements

Also included in this Current Report on Form 8-K are certain (i) audited consolidated financial statements of ALG and its subsidiaries, (ii) unaudited
consolidated financial statements of ALG and its subsidiaries and (iii) unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of the Company
giving effect to the Transaction, each as described in Item 9.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K.

The consent of Ernst & Young LLP, consenting to the incorporation by reference in certain of the Company’s registration statements of its report forming
part of Exhibit 99.3 hereto, is attached as Exhibit 23.1 hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

The consolidated financial statements of ALG and its subsidiaries as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, attached as Exhibit 99.3
hereto and incorporated by reference herein, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their report thereon, which is
incorporated by reference herein (which report expresses an unqualified opinion on the financial statements).

The unaudited consolidated financial statements of ALG and its subsidiaries as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 and for the six-month periods
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are attached as Exhibit 99.4 hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

(b) Pro forma financial information.

The Company’s unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended
December 31, 2020 and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2021, each with related notes thereto, are attached as
Exhibit 99.5 hereto and incorporated by reference herein.



(d) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit
No.   Document Description

23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

99.1   Disclosure provided to investors

99.2   Information with respect to certain material risks related to the Transaction

99.3
  

Audited consolidated financial statements of ALG and its subsidiaries as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the report
of Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors

99.4
  

Unaudited consolidated financial statements of ALG and its subsidiaries as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 and for the six-month
periods ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

99.5
  

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended
December 31, 2020 of the Company and unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 of the Company

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-Looking Statements in this Current Report on Form 8-K, which are not historical facts, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements related to the Company’s plans, objectives,
goals, expectations, beliefs, business strategies, future events and business conditions, expectations with respect to the time schedule to complete the
Transaction, and involve known and unknown risks that are difficult to predict. As a result, our actual results, performance or achievements may differ
materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of
words such as “may,” “could,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” “likely,”
“will,” “would” and variations of these terms and similar expressions, or the negative of these terms or similar expressions. Such forward-looking
statements are necessarily based upon estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by us and our management, are inherently uncertain.
Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among others, the risks discussed in the Company’s filings with
the SEC, including our annual report on Form 10-K and subsequent reports, which filings are available from the SEC. We caution you not to place undue
reliance on any forward-looking statements, which are made only as of the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K. We do not undertake or assume any
obligation to update publicly any of these forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, new information or future events, changes in assumptions or
changes in other factors affecting forward-looking statements, except to the extent required by applicable law. If we update one or more forward-looking
statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

 Hyatt Hotels Corporation

Date: September 21, 2021  By:  /s/ Joan Bottarini
  Name:  Joan Bottarini
  Title:  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements Nos. 333-249931 and 333-238574 on Form S-3 and Registration Statements Nos.
333-238577 and 333-238575 on Form S-8 of Hyatt Hotels Corporation of our report dated March 31, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements
of Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 appearing in this Current
Report on Form 8-K of Hyatt Hotels Corporation.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

September 21, 2021



Exhibit 99.1

Recent Developments

We have experienced improvement and further recovery in our comparable system-wide RevPAR after the end of the second quarter of 2021. System-wide
RevPAR improved from approximately 50% of 2019 levels prior to Memorial Day to nearly 75% of 2019 levels in the month of July, with RevPAR at
approximately $100. July leisure transient revenue was nearly 20% ahead of 2019 levels in the United States and greater than 20% ahead of 2019 in
Mainland China. System-wide RevPAR in August was approximately $90, a modest decline from July, driven by normal seasonality and an increase in
travel restrictions in certain markets related to the Delta variant of COVID-19. September system-wide RevPAR is trending at approximately $85 with
growing momentum in business transient and group business. While group cancellations have been elevated in August and September, new group bookings
have remained strong. In addition, business transient bookings have accelerated materially in September as compared to August 2021. The pace of growth
remains strong, with 7.4% net rooms growth over the past 12 months as of August 2021. Finally, we completed the sale of two assets in September and
realized $500 million of gross proceeds, executing our March 2019 commitment to realize gross proceeds greater than our target of $1.5 billion from the
sale of real estate before our target deadline of March 2022. As previously disclosed, we have further committed to realize an additional $2.0 billion of
gross proceeds from the sale of hotel real estate by the end of 2024.



Exhibit 99.2

Risks Related to the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition

We expect to incur material expenses and indebtedness related to the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition.

We expect to incur material expenses and indebtedness in completing the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition and integrating the business, operations,
practices, policies and procedures of Apple Leisure Group. While we have assumed that a certain level of transaction and integration expenses would be
incurred, there are a number of factors beyond our control that could affect the total amount or the timing of integration expenses. Many of the expenses that
will be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately at the present time. We also intend to finance a portion of the consideration for the
Apple Leisure Group Acquisition through the incurrence of indebtedness, which would increase our debt service obligations and the risk of downgrade of
our credit ratings by credit rating agencies. We cannot assure you that these additional expenses or indebtedness will not have an adverse effect on us or our
results of operations.

We may not realize the anticipated benefits from the pending Apple Leisure Group Acquisition.

The Apple Leisure Group Acquisition involves the combination of two companies that currently operate as independent companies. While we and Apple
Leisure Group will continue to operate independently until the completion of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition, the success of the Apple Leisure Group
Acquisition will depend, in part, on our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from successfully combining our and Apple Leisure Group’s businesses
after closing. We plan on devoting substantial management attention and resources to integrating our and Apple Leisure Group’s business practices so that
we can fully realize the anticipated benefits of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition. Nonetheless, the business and assets acquired may not be successful or
continue to grow at the same rate as when operated independently or may require greater resources and investments than originally anticipated. The Apple
Leisure Group Acquisition could also result in the assumption of unknown or contingent liabilities, and, because Apple Leisure Group operates in the same
sector that we do, the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition could also exacerbate a number of risks that currently apply to us.

Potential difficulties we may encounter following closing include the following:
 

 •  the inability to successfully combine our and Apple Leisure Group’s businesses in a manner that permits us to realize the anticipated benefits
of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition in the time frame currently anticipated, or at all;

 

 
•  difficulties resulting from developments of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the emergence of new virus variants or limits in the

effectiveness of vaccination programs, which could cause us to slow, cease or reevaluate the focus of integration efforts or impair the value of
our and Apple Leisure Group’s assets;

 

 •  the failure to integrate internal systems, programs and controls, or decisions by our management to apply different accounting policies,
assumptions or judgments to Apple Leisure Group’s operational results than Apple Leisure Group applied in the past;

 

 •  the inability to successfully realize the anticipated value from Apple Leisure Group’s assets or the expected benefits and added value from the
World of Hyatt loyalty program and Apple Leisure Group’s membership club offering;

 

 •  loss of sales and other commercial relationships;
 

 •  the complexities associated with managing the combined company;
 

 •  the additional complexities of combining two companies with different histories, cultures, markets, strategies and customer bases;



 •  the failure to retain key employees of either of the two companies that may be difficult to replace;
 

 •  the disruption of each company’s ongoing businesses or inconsistencies in services, standards, controls, procedures and policies;
 

 •  potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the Apple Leisure Group
Acquisition; and

 

 •  performance shortfalls at one or both of the two companies as a result of the diversion of management’s attention caused by completing the
Apple Leisure Group Acquisition and integrating our and Apple Leisure Group’s operations.

Based on our preliminary purchase accounting estimates, a significant portion of the purchase price for the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition would be
allocated to goodwill and intangible assets ($2.0 billion and $1.8 billion, respectively, assumed in our pro forma balance sheet as of June 30, 2021). We
must test goodwill and certain intangible assets for possible impairment on at least an annual basis, and must evaluate amortizable intangible assets for
impairment if there are indicators of a possible impairment. If our acquisition of the Apple Leisure Group does not yield expected returns, we may be
required to record impairment losses, which could materially adversely affect our reported results.

Any of these risks could adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, vendors, employees and other commercial relationships or
adversely affect our or Apple Leisure Group’s future operational results. As a result, the anticipated benefits of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition may
not be realized or at all or may take longer to realize or cost more than expected, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and growth prospects. In addition, changes in laws and regulations could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations
and growth prospects after the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition.

The pending Apple Leisure Group Acquisition may not be completed on the currently contemplated timeline or terms, or at all.

Consummation of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition is conditioned on, among other things, the receipt of certain consents and other approvals under the
competition laws of various jurisdictions. Neither we nor Apple Leisure Group can provide assurance that the conditions to completing the Apple Leisure
Group Acquisition will be satisfied or waived, and accordingly, that the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition will be completed on the terms or timeline that
the parties anticipate or at all. If any condition to the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition is not satisfied, it could delay or prevent the Apple Leisure Group
Acquisition from occurring, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Failure to complete the pending Apple Leisure Group Acquisition could have an adverse effect on us.

Either we or Apple Leisure Group may terminate the Securities Purchase Agreement in specified circumstances. If the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition is
not completed, our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects may be adversely affected and, without realizing any of the
benefits of having completed the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition, we will be subject to a number of risks, including the following:
 

 •  the market price of our securities could decline;
 

 
•  we will be required to pay certain costs relating to the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition, such as legal, accounting, financial advisor, filing,

printing and mailing fees and integration costs that have already been incurred or will continue to be incurred until the closing of the Apple
Leisure Group Acquisition, whether or not the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition is completed;



 •  if the Securities Purchase Agreement is terminated, our stockholders cannot be certain that we will be able to find another acquisition
opportunity as attractive to us as the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition;

 

 •  we could be subject to litigation related to any failure to complete the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition or related to any enforcement
proceeding commenced against us to perform our obligations under the Securities Purchase Agreement;

 

 •  we will not realize the benefit of the time and resources, financial and otherwise, committed by our management to matters relating to the
Apple Leisure Group Acquisition that could have been devoted to pursuing other beneficial opportunities;

 

 
•  we may incur a material amount of indebtedness in anticipation of financing the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition, and a failure to complete it

could result in our having materially more indebtedness, which we may be able to apply to other uses, without the incremental revenue or cash
flows that we expect from the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition;

 

 •  in the event the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition does not successfully close, we may be unable to fulfill our $2.0 billion asset disposition
commitment on the anticipated timeline or at all; and

 

 •  we may experience reputational harm due to the adverse perception of any failure to successfully complete the Apple Leisure Group
Acquisition or negative reactions from the financial markets or from our customers, vendors, employees and other commercial relationships.

Any of these risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects, and impact our ability to
meaningfully increase the percentage of revenues and earnings we generate from fees. Similarly, delays in the completion of the Apple Leisure Group
Acquisition could, among other things, result in additional transaction costs, loss of revenue or other negative effects associated with delay and uncertainty
about completion of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth
prospects.

The pendency of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition could adversely affect our and/or Apple Leisure Group’s businesses and operations.

In connection with the pending Apple Leisure Group Acquisition, some customers, vendors or other parties with commercial relationships with each of us
and the Apple Leisure Group may delay or defer decisions, which could adversely affect the revenues, earnings, cash flows and expenses of us and Apple
Leisure Group, regardless of whether the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition is completed. In addition, due to operating covenants in the Securities Purchase
Agreement, Apple Leisure Group may be unable (without our prior written consent), during the pendency of the Apple Leisure Group Acquisition, to
pursue strategic transactions, undertake significant capital projects, undertake certain significant financing transactions and otherwise pursue other actions
outside the ordinary course, even if such actions would prove beneficial.



Exhibit 99.3

“Apple Leisure Group”
Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors

Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries (the Company),
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes
in equity (deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements    

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Casablanca Global
Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the
years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 

Philadelphia, PA
March 31, 2021
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 
(in thousands of dollars)   2020   2019  
Assets    
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 222,625  $ 61,317 
Restricted cash    31,740   70,487 
Accounts receivable, net    74,657   166,984 
UVC current deferred costs    18,005   17,144 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    123,255   110,205 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    470,282   426,137 
    

 
   

 

Property and equipment, net    26,108   62,247 

Goodwill    625,506   899,509 
Intangible assets    388,758   650,872 
Deferred tax assets    8,479   768 
UVC long-term deferred costs    174,216   148,461 
Other long-term assets    61,176   59,985 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 1,754,525  $2,247,979 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and (Deficit) Equity    
Current liabilities    

UVC deferred revenue   $ 54,553  $ 55,466 
Customer deposits    255,095   547,640 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    443,623   370,635 
Current portion of long-term debt    10,840   9,500 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    764,111   983,241 
    

 
   

 

Long-term debt, net of current portion    1,334,465   884,970 
Deferred tax liabilities    45,062   70,605 
UVC deferred revenue    611,558   513,465 
Other long-term liabilities    102,542   90,604 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities   $ 2,857,738  $2,542,885 
    

 

   

 

(Deficit) equity    
Members’ equity    518,898   518,898 
Accumulated deficit    (1,620,504)   (818,959) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income    47   1,264 

    
 

   
 

Total (deficit) equity attributable to Apple Leisure Group    (1,101,559)   (298,797) 
Noncontrolling interest    (1,654)   3,891 

    
 

   
 

Total (deficit) equity    (1,103,213)   (294,906) 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and (deficit) equity   $ 1,754,525  $2,247,979 
    

 

   

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 
(in thousands of dollars)   2020   2019  
Sales/revenue   $ 406,750  $1,089,705 
Cost reimbursement    41,719   86,075 

    
 

   
 

Total revenue    448,469   1,175,780 
    

 
   

 

Costs and expenses    
Direct cost of sales    109,777   275,201 
Commissions    111,856   340,866 
Reimbursable costs    44,537   88,817 
General and administrative    107,423   137,745 
Sales and marketing    55,773   95,950 
Payroll and payroll-related    186,716   257,274 
Depreciation and amortization    91,888   89,135 
Impairment of intangible and long-lived assets    486,955   186,876 

    
 

   
 

Total costs and expenses    1,194,925   1,471,864 
    

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (746,456)   (296,084) 

Interest income    1,109   2,121 
Interest expense    (84,363)   (72,560) 
Other income    1,381   3,499 

    
 

   
 

Loss before tax (benefit) expense    (828,329)   (363,024) 

Income tax (benefit) expense    (21,522)   15,989 
    

 
   

 

Net loss    (806,807)   (379,013) 
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest    (5,462)   (234) 

    
 

   
 

Net loss attributable to Apple Leisure Group    (801,345)   (378,779) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)    
Change in postretirement benefit liabilities    (2,362)   —   
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of $83 and $104 attributable to non-controlling interest    1,145   (847) 

    
 

   
 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)    (1,217)   (847) 
    

 
   

 

Comprehensive loss attributable to Apple Leisure Group   $ (802,562)  $ (379,626) 
    

 

   

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in (Deficit) Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 

(in thousands of dollars)   
Paid-In 
Capital    

Accumulated
Deficit   

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
Income   

Noncontrolling
Interest   

Total
(Deficit) Equity 

Balances at December 31, 2018   $518,898   $ (440,030)  $ 2,111  $ —    $ 80,979 
Net loss    —      (378,779)   —     (234)   (379,013) 
Other comprehensive loss    —      —     (847)   (104)   (951) 
Distributions to parent    —      (150)   —     —     (150) 
Issuance of noncontrolling interest    —      —     —     4,229   4,229 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2019    518,898    (818,959)   1,264   3,891   (294,906) 
Net loss    —      (801,345)   —     (5,462)   (806,807) 
Other comprehensive loss    —      —     (1,217)   (83)   (1,300) 
Distributions to parent    —      (200)   —     —     (200) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2020   $518,898   $(1,620,504)  $ 47  $ (1,654)  $ (1,103,213) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 
(in thousands of dollars)   2020   2019  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net loss   $(806,807)  $(379,013) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities    

Depreciation/amortization    91,888   89,135 
Impairment of intangible assets and long lived assets    486,955   186,876 
Deferred tax benefit    (33,544)   (2,443) 
Non cash interest    32,101   9,396 
Bad debt expense    19,716   8,092 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable    85,076   (30,431) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    (10,572)   (15,226) 
UVC deferred costs    (26,616)   (68,113) 
UVC deferred revenue    97,180   167,224 
Other long-term assets    (19,181)   (11,028) 
Customer deposits and other liabilities    (279,860)   (6,868) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    70,083   (10,724) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (293,581)   (63,123) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Capital expenditures, including internal-use software    (4,975)   (17,275) 
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash and restricted cash    —     (9,909) 
Investments in loans receivable    (4,792)   (3,268) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (9,767)   (30,452) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Principal payments on long-term debt    (9,500)   (9,500) 
Debt financing proceeds    257,444   —   
Debt financing fees paid    (4,210)   —   
Borrowings on revolving credit facility    175,000   —   
Issuance of non-controlling interest    —     3,540 
(Distribution) contribution    (200)   539 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    418,534   (5,421) 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (428)   182 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash    114,758   (98,814) 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash    
Beginning of period    139,607   238,421 

    
 

   
 

End of period   $ 254,365  $ 139,607 
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information    
Cash paid during period for interest   $ 53,410  $ 63,242 
Cash paid during period for taxes    7,262   13,870 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 
1. Nature of Business

Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries, known as “Apple Leisure Group” (herein referred to as “the Group” or “ALG”), is a
vertically integrated leisure travel company with three core businesses that generate revenue:

Vacations, which generates revenue through the offering of travel products and services under the following brands: “Apple Vacations,” “Amstar,”
“Beachbound,” “Blue Sky Tours,” “Cheap Caribbean,” “Funjet Vacations,” “Funway Holidays,” and “Travel Impressions,” and the licensed brands
“Southwest Vacations” and “United Vacations.” The Group’s offerings under these brands primarily include some or all of the following: air
transportation provided by the Group (“charter flight”) or third-party air carriers (“scheduled air”), hotel accommodations provided by third-party
resorts, travel insurance provided by either the Group or third-party insurance companies, ground transportation provided by the Group, car rental
reservations and excursions provided by third parties. In addition, the Vacations business includes the operations of “Trisept Solutions,” which
delivers technology solutions through its operating suite that connects agents with leading travel suppliers.

Resort Management (hereinafter referred to as “AMResorts” or “AMR”), which generates revenue through marketing and brand management of
exclusive resort properties. AMResorts provides sales, marketing and brand management services for seven brands of exclusive resort properties in
Mexico, the Dominican Republic, Jamaica, Costa Rica, Curaçao, Panama, and Spain: “Zoëtry Wellness & Spa Resorts,” “Secrets Resorts & Spas,”
“Dreams Resorts & Spas,” “Now Resorts & Spas,” “Sunscape Resorts & Spas,” “Breathless Resorts & Spas,” “Reflect Resorts & Spas” and “Alua
Hotels & Resorts” (hereinafter referred to as “Alua”). In addition to sales directly to the public through the brand website, vacation packages for these
resorts are available through travel wholesale and retail agencies, including Apple Vacations, Beachbound, Cheap Caribbean, Funjet Vacations,
Funway Holidays and Travel Impressions. As of December 31, 2020, AMResorts manages 71 resorts (32 in Mexico, 11 in the Dominican Republic,
18 in Spain, 4 in Jamaica, 2 in Costa Rica, 2 in Curaçao, 1 in St. Martin, and 1 in Panama).

Unlimited Vacation Club (hereinafter referred to as “UVC”), which generates revenue through the sale of memberships in a vacation club.
Membership primarily entitles the member to discounted pricing for resort stays at certain AMResorts properties. Different categories of membership
provide access to varying levels of benefits, including the number of free nights granted (free nights are a limited number of nights paid for by UVC),
membership incentives, different categories of resort rooms, different properties, the periods during the year when the discounted stays may be used
and the length of membership.

Beginning in March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant negative impact on the Group’s results of operations, resulting from a
significant increase in cancellations and a substantial decline in new bookings compared to historical activity. These impacts combined with hotel
closures and travel restrictions, lead management to conclude that a substantial doubt existed concerning the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern for one year past the date of issuance of the December 31, 2019 consolidated financial statements. The substantial doubt existed solely with
respect to the Group’s potential inability to satisfy a financial maintenance covenant through March 2021. When the Group obtained additional debt
financing to ensure sufficient cash on hand, the existing debt covenants were revised and the financial maintenance covenant was suspended, as
disclosed in Note 11. In addition, beginning in April 2020 the Group implemented cost reduction measures such as reducing headcount and reducing
spending on operating costs and variable costs.
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Although the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19”) continues to adversely impact the above core businesses when comparing business results to
annual reporting periods before COVID-19 restrictions were implemented around the world, the Group believes that the proceeds from the 2020 debt
issuances, combined with continued efforts to reduce expenses and the current cash on hand, are sufficient to meet Group obligations as they come
due for at least a period of twelve months from the date of the issuance of these consolidated financial statements.

 
2. Recent Accounting Policies Not Yet Adopted

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by
requiring the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. The new standard is effective for private companies with
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. Most prominent among the amendments is the recognition of assets
and liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under current U.S. GAAP. Under the new standard, disclosures are required to
meet the objective of enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.

In July 2018, The FASB issued ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842) - Targeted Improvements.” The update provides an additional (optional) transition
method to adopt the new lease standard, allowing entities to apply the new lease standard at the adoption date. The Group expects to adopt Topic 842
following this optional transition method. Accordingly, comparative financial statements for periods prior to the date of adoption will not be adjusted.

The Group is continuing to assess all potential impacts of the standard. The Group currently believes the most significant impact is the recognition of
right-of-use asset and lease liability on the Group’s Consolidated Balance Sheets related to accounting for office space operating leases.

 
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in United States dollars and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the assets and liabilities used in operating the Group. The
Group records non-controlling interest (which is attributable to Alua) in the Group’s consolidated financial statements to recognize the minority
ownership interest in the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries. Non-controlling interest in the earnings and losses of consolidated subsidiaries represent
the share of net income or loss allocated, which represent the outside ownership interests of our consolidated, non-wholly owned entities. All
intercompany balances and transactions involving the Group and its wholly owned entities have been eliminated.

The financial statements of the majority of the subsidiaries comprising the Group operations outside of the United States utilize the U.S. dollar as their
functional currency as all income transactions and the majority of their expense transactions occur in U.S. dollars. The financial
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statements of these subsidiaries are re-measured to U.S. dollars with foreign currency exchange gains and losses reported within General and
administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, such amounts
totaled a gain of $2,043 and a loss of $811, respectively.

For the remaining subsidiaries in the Group whose functional currency is not the United States dollar, assets and liabilities are translated to the
reporting currency using the exchange rates in effect on the Consolidated Balance Sheet dates. Equity accounts are translated at historical rates, except
for the change in retained earnings during the year, which is the result of the income statement translation process. Revenue and expense accounts are
translated using the average exchange rate during the period. The cumulative translation adjustments associated with the net assets of these foreign
subsidiaries are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Changes in (Deficit) Equity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions about
the future outcome of current transactions that may affect the reporting and disclosure of these transactions. Accordingly, actual results could differ
from those estimates used in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

The Group recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of the Group’s promised services in an amount that reflects the consideration the Group
expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services in accordance with ASC 606. The Group excludes all taxes assessed by a government
authority, if any, from the measurement of transaction prices that are imposed on the Group’s travel related services or collected by the Group from
customers (which are therefore excluded from revenue).

Vacations

The Group’s Vacations business offers traditional leisure travel products and services on an individual and package basis. Travel products and
services primarily include some or all of the following performance obligations: air transportation provided by the Group (“charter flight”) or third-
party air carriers (“scheduled air”), hotel accommodations provided by third-party resorts, travel insurance provided by third-party insurance
companies, ground transportation provided by the Group, and car rental reservations and excursions provided by third parties. The Group records
revenue and cost on a gross basis for performance obligations where they are determined to be the principal in the transaction because they are
primarily responsible for and control the service provided to the customer. When the supplier is determined to be primarily responsible for the service
provided to the customer, the Group is determined to be acting as an agent in the transaction and revenue is recognized net of related payments to the
suppliers. The Group’s travelers pay for travel prior to departing on their trip with payments recorded in customer deposits on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets until the transfer of control of the related performance obligation occurs and the Group has no significant post-departure obligations,
at which point the related revenue is recognized.

For certain airline, hotel and car transactions, the Group also receives fees through global distribution systems (“GDS”) that provide the computer
systems through which the travel supplier
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inventory is made available and through which reservations are booked. The Group views payments received through GDS as commissions from
suppliers and record these commissions in revenue upon booking.

The Group’s Vacations business provides advertising services to travel suppliers on its consumer websites, travel agent websites, travel brochures and
via other media. The Group records revenues from advertising when the service is provided.

Below is a chart summarizing the timing and presentation of revenue recognition for the various performance obligations in the Group’s Vacations
business.

 
Vacations Performance Obligation  Presentation   Timing
Charter Flight  Gross   Departure and Return
Scheduled Air  Net   Booking
Hotel  Net   Each day of stay
Opaque Hotel*  Net   Booking
Travel Insurance provided by third parties  Net   Booking
Ground transportation provided by the Group  Gross   Departure and Return
Car rental reservations  Net   Each day of use
Excursions  Net   Day of use
Advertising revenue from suppliers  Gross   Services rendered
GDS and other supplier revenues  Gross   Services rendered

 
* Opaque hotel is a nonrefundable, nonchangeable hotel transaction where the Group has no significant post-booking performance obligations.

AMResorts

AMResorts’ revenues are primarily derived from resort management services provided under the terms of contracts entered into with the resort
owners. The Group has no ownership interest in the resorts that it manages but does lease certain European resort properties from the resort owners.
Costs and expenses associated with the operation of the managed resorts are the responsibility of the resort owners. Accordingly, these costs and
expenses are not reflected in the Group’s Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss. For leased resorts, AMResorts controls the property under
the lease agreement and is the principal in the transactions with resort guests and therefore revenues from resort guests are shown gross. The costs and
expenses associated with the operation of leased resorts are the Group’s responsibility and are reported in the Group’s Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss.

The Group’s performance obligations for managed resorts are a series of distinct services and include hotel management services, reservation
services, pre-opening services and marketing services (which include a license to access AMResorts’ intellectual property, including brand names and
trademarks). While the underlying activities for each performance obligation may vary from day to day, the nature of the commitments are the same
each day, and the property owner can independently benefit from each day’s services. The Group receives variable consideration through the fees
earned under the contracts with resort owners. The group allocates the variable revenue, subject to constraints, to the distinct services to which they
relate under the prescribed variable consideration allocation guidance.
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Management and incentive fees are typically billed and collected monthly, and revenue is generally recognized as hotel management services are
provided. Management fees are typically based on a percentage of the underlying resort’s revenues. Incentive fees are generally based on a percentage
of the resort’s operating profits and is recognized on a monthly basis, but only to the extent the cumulative fee earned does not exceed the fee
probable of being earned in the incentive period. Marketing fees are typically billed and collected monthly, based on a percentage of the underlying
resort’s gross sales, and revenue is generally recognized as marketing services are provided, which is when the marketing expenses are incurred by
AMResorts. AMResorts is primarily responsible for the marketing services provided and only has the right to invoice for reimbursement of actual
marketing expenses incurred on behalf of the resort owner. As such, the related cost reimbursement revenues and reimbursable costs are recorded
gross, in the Group’s Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss. Reservation fees, which are based on a percentage of resort sales booked
through the AMResorts website or call center, are recognized when the related hotel stay occurs.

The Group’s performance obligations for leased resorts consist primarily of room reservations and ancillary goods and services for which revenue is
recognized when the room stay occurs or the ancillary good or service is provided to the resort guest. The transaction price for room sales, goods and
other services are generally fixed and based on the respective room reservation or other agreement. On occasion, the hotel may provide the customer
with a substantive right to a free or discounted good or service in conjunction with a room reservation or banquet contract (e.g., free breakfast and free
room night for every four nights booked). These substantive rights are considered separate performance obligations to which a portion of the
transaction price is allocated based on the estimated standalone selling prices of the good or service, adjusted for the likelihood the hotel guest will
exercise the right.

UVC

UVC sells several different types and lengths of memberships and memberships may be paid in full at commencement or by making a deposit and
paying the remaining balance in monthly installments over a period less than the membership term. Contracts contain transferability and assignment
provisions, subject to certain events and conditions. Some contracts contain addendums that allow for the original term of a membership contract to
be extended for additional terms of one, two or three times the original membership terms, without additional cost to a member.

Every UVC contract provides the member continuous access over the term of the contract to discounted pricing for vacation packages at participating
resorts, with the room type, participating resorts, and availability dependent on the contract tier. Members are required to pay an annual renewal fee to
continue to have access to the benefits within the contract. Every UVC contract also provides the member with initial memberships (two to five-year
duration) for third-party vacation exchange services. UVC contracts may also include free hotel stays (“free nights”) for two persons, with the room
type and availability dependent on the contract tier purchased, or up-front incentives, such as gifts, room upgrades or complimentary stays, added to
the contract to help close a membership sale.

Each element noted in the paragraph above represents a separate performance obligation within the UVC contract. UVC is the principal for the
performance obligations to provide access to discounted pricing on vacation packages and the member’s material right to renew that access
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over the contract term. UVC is an agent for the performance obligations related to third-party vacation exchange services, free nights, and up-front
incentives. UVC considers the third-party providers for its agency goods/services as separate customers and excludes the net revenues that it expects
to receive for the agency services from the transaction price with the UVC member. Consideration is allocated to each performance obligation based
on stand-alone selling price, when stand-alone selling price is available, or third party evidence or management’s best estimate when stand-alone price
is not readily available. The net revenues for the agency goods/services provided are separately recognized by UVC when the related performance
obligations are satisfied.

The Group determined that customers benefit from UVC’s stand-ready obligation to provide continuous access to discounted vacation packages
evenly throughout the period in which the customer has access to the discounts (i.e. over the initial contract term and all renewal periods), and as
such, recognizes the associated revenues on a straight-line basis over the expected customer life. As payments are primarily received up front with a
portion financed over a maximum period of 5 years, recognizing consideration allocated to the continuous access and renewal right performance
obligations over the expected customer life, which ranges from three to twenty-five years, results in significant deferred revenue balances for UVC.
Net revenues for free nights are recognized when the free nights are used by the member or when the rights to use the free nights expire, whichever
comes first. Net revenues for initial memberships to third-party vacation exchange services are recognized over the two- to five-year exchange
membership term. Net revenues for up-front incentives, such as gifts, room upgrades, or complimentary stays, are recognized when used.

Deferred revenue that is expected to be recognized during the succeeding twelve-month period is recorded as current liabilities and the remaining
portion is recorded as noncurrent on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Included in Customer deposits are the UVC deposits received from customers
because the payments made have not satisfied minimum down payment requirements to activate the contract. In addition, UVC receives payments
from members in advance of the member’s discounted rate resort stays and records these amounts as Customer deposits. UVC pays the resort upon
completion of the members’ stays.

Related direct costs incurred by UVC for origination of the contract, which the Group expects to recover over the life of the contract, primarily
commissions, are also deferred over the same period as the corresponding revenue, resulting in deferred costs. Deferred costs are recorded in
commission expense on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss when payment for the costs has been made by UVC.

Members can upgrade their membership to a higher tier for an additional fee, or downgrade, by opting out of paying all or a portion of the remaining
financed portion of the membership. Upgrades result in additional goods and services that are separable and therefore upgrades are considered
cancellation of the old contract and the creation of a new contract. Downgrades do not result in additional distinct goods or services, and therefore the
revised consideration is allocated to the continuing performance obligations, with an adjustment to revenue recorded on the date of downgrade for
performance to date on those continuing performance obligations.

Vacations recognized revenue of $272,851 and $855,571 in 2020 and 2019, all of which was recognized at a point in time. AMR recognized revenue
of $80,048 and $227,319 in 2020 and 2019, all of which was recognized over time. UVC recognized revenue of $95,570 and $92,647 in 2020 and
2019, of which $69,630 and $60,402 was recognized over time in 2020 and 2019 respectively, and the remaining amounts were recognized at a point
in time.
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Sales and marketing

The Group reports sales incentives offered to potential customers and advertising expenses as Sales and Marketing. The Group expenses production
costs associated with advertisements in the period in which the advertisement first takes place or for print advertising, such as brochures, ratably over
the period covered by the brochure. The Group expenses the costs of communicating the advertisement (e.g., television airtime) as incurred each time
the advertisement is shown. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, non-reimbursed advertising costs totaled $5,383 and $28,169,
respectively, and are recorded as Sales and marketing expenses.

Fair Value Measurements

The Group follows the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” for fair value measurements of financial
assets and financial liabilities and for fair value measurements of nonfinancial items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial
statements on a recurring and non-recurring basis.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (exit price). Fair value measurements are categorized with the highest priority given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority given to unobservable inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

 
Level 1   Assets or liabilities for which the item is valued based on quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2   Assets or liabilities valued based on observable market data for similar instruments.

Level 3
  

Assets or liabilities for which significant valuation assumptions are not readily observable in the market; instruments valued based on
the best available data, some of which is internally-developed, and considers risk premiums that a market participant would require.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.

The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of the fair value
of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.

The fair value of long-term debt is discussed in Note 11. The carrying values of all current financial assets and current financial liabilities
approximate fair values due to their short-term nature.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group considers cash and all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents (excluding
cash restricted contractually or as required by regulatory authorities, as defined below). The Group includes amounts due from third-party financial
institutions for credit and debit card transactions as cash equivalents.

 
13



“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 

The Group maintains cash and cash equivalent accounts at several financial institutions in several countries. The balances held in U.S. bank accounts
typically exceed federally insured amounts of $250 per institution. Management believes the credit risk related to these deposits is minimal.

The Group considers cash deposited or escrowed in accordance with contractual obligations or regulatory requirements as restricted. The Group
maintains restricted cash, which is invested in certificates of deposit and money market accounts, as security for purchasing card agreements and
letters of credit issued for contracts executed with certain hotels and air carriers. The Group also maintains restricted cash related to its charter air
contracts as U.S. Department of Transportation regulations require charter operators to escrow customer funds received related to the flights’
operations until after the flights have departed or until they are paid to the charter airlines, who in turn, escrow the funds pursuant to the regulations.
At December 31, 2019, $7,803 of restricted cash was reclassified as Other long-term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are Level 1 financial instruments. The Group invests a portion of cash into short-term interest-bearing
money market funds that have a maturity of less than 90 days. Consequently, the balances are recorded in cash and cash equivalents. The funds are
held with open-ended registered investment companies, and the fair value of the funds is classified as Level 1 as market available pricing information
is available on an ongoing basis. The balances of cash equivalents held in money market accounts were $150,157, and $20 as of December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable primarily include amounts outstanding from customers for scheduled air bookings and from resorts for resort management
contracts. The Group regularly evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable based on factors such as recent payment history and recognizes an
allowance as considered necessary. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $6,593 and $3,504, respectively. Bad
debt expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $19,717 and $8,092, respectively, and is recorded in General and
administrative expenses.

AMResorts also holds a series of loans receivable with hotel management companies, with repayment terms ranging from 3-5 years, and interest rates
ranging from 0-5%. These balances are recorded in other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and are reflected in Note 5 – Balance
Sheet Detail. The bad debt expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 includes a provision for loans receivable considered to be uncollectible
totaling $12,877.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The costs of maintenance and repairs of property and equipment are expensed
as incurred. The Group capitalizes costs associated with internal use computer software in accordance with ASC 350-40, “Internal-Use Computer
Software” and includes these costs in Property and equipment, net. The Group capitalizes certain costs associated with internally developed software,
such as payroll costs of employees devoting time to the projects during the application development stage and external direct costs for materials and
services incurred in developing or obtaining the software. Costs associated with internally developed software to be used internally are expensed until
the point the
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project has reached the application development stage. Subsequent additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use software are capitalized only
to the extent that they allow the software to perform a task it previously did not perform. Software maintenance and training costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. The capitalization of software requires judgment in determining when a project has reached the development stage.

Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method and is expensed based upon the estimated useful lives of the
assets, ranging from three to fifteen years.

Impairment Reviews for Long-Lived Assets

The Group periodically reviews carrying values and useful lives of long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. Factors that could indicate an impairment include significant underperformance of
the asset as compared to historical or projected future operating results or significant negative industry or economic trends.

When the Group determines that the carrying value of an asset group may not be recoverable, the related estimated future undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset group are compared to the carrying value of the asset group. The asset group is
the lowest level of identifiable cash flows, which is at the individual brand level for the Vacations reporting unit and at the reporting unit level for
AMResorts and UVC. If the sum of the estimated future undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset group, then an
impairment test is required and an impairment charge is recorded if the carrying value of the asset group is less than its fair value. During 2020,
Management identified impairment indicators for its long-lived assets as of June 30, 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s business
and determined that an impairment test was required for certain of the asset groups (i.e. the brands) within the Vacations reporting unit. The Group
estimated the fair value of the asset groups primarily using an income approach which was based on the discounted expected future cash flows for
each brand. The discount rate was based on the estimated weighted average cost of capital for each brand and ranged from 17-18%. The inputs used to
measure these assets at fair value as of June 30, 2020 represent Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.

As a result of the impairment tests performed, the Group recognized impairment losses for the following long-lived assets as of June 30, 2020:

(1) $38,091 related to customer relationship intangible assets for the Southwest, Funjet, United Vacations and Apple Vacations brands;

(2) $5,835 related to property and equipment for the Funjet and Apple Vacations brands;

(3) $20,883 related to capitalized software and developed technology for Trisept.

No impairment was recorded to long-lived assets for the year ended December 31, 2019. Long-lived asset impairment was recorded in Impairment of
intangible and long-lived assets in the Statements of Comprehensive Loss.
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Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangibles

The Group tests for the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually on the first day of the fourth quarter, or more
frequently when negative conditions or triggering events occur, in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles-Goodwill
and Other” and ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) – Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.”

In order to test for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment, the Group may first assess certain qualitative factors (hereinafter
referred to as “step zero”), and if it is determined based on this assessment that is it more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit or asset
is less than its carrying amount, the Group must perform a quantitative analysis to determine whether impairment exists. If the Group determines
through the quantitative analysis that the carrying amount of a reporting unit or asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized in
an amount equal to that excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit or the total carrying value of the indefinite-lived
intangible.

When performing the quantitative analysis for goodwill impairment, the Group generally bases the measurement of fair value of reporting units on a
blended analysis of the present value of future discounted cash flows and market valuation approach. The discounted cash flows model indicates the
fair value of the reporting units based on the present value of the cash flows that the Group expects the reporting units to generate in the future.
Significant estimates in the discounted cash flows model include the weighted average cost of capital, long-term rate of growth and profitability of the
Group’s business and working capital effects. The market valuation approach indicates the fair value of the business based on a comparison of the
Group to comparable publicly traded firms in similar lines of business. The Group’s significant estimates in the market approach model include
identifying similar companies with comparable business factors such as size, growth, profitability, risk and return on investment and assessing
comparable revenue and operating income multiples in estimating the fair value of the reporting units.

The Group believes the weighted use of discounted cash flows and market approach is the best method for determining the fair value of its reporting
units because these are the most common valuation methodologies used within the travel and internet industries, and the blended use of both models
compensates for the inherent risks associated with either model if used on a stand-alone basis.

During 2020 and 2019, the Group determined it was more likely than not that the fair values of certain of its reporting units and indefinite-lived
intangible assets were less than their carrying amounts, which required that the Group perform quantitative impairment analyses in both years. This
was primarily due to the Group experiencing lower than forecasted results of operations in both years. In 2020, the Group experienced negative
impacts on the business due to COVID-19 which resulted in declines in revenues from travel products and services across all reporting units and
uncertainty in the rate and timing of the Group’s recovery. As a result, the Group concluded that indicators of impairment existed as of June 30, 2020,
and performed goodwill impairment tests for all of its reporting units at that date. The Group recognized impairment losses for the goodwill in the
Vacations and AMResorts reporting units of $234,637 and $40,315, respectively. The Group also evaluated goodwill for impairment on its annual
impairment testing date of October 1st using the qualitative assessment and concluded that it was not more likely than not that the carrying value of
any of the reporting units was below fair value. As of December 31, 2020, the carrying value of goodwill assigned to UVC, which as a reporting unit
had a negative carrying value, was $276,098.
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As of June 30, 2020, management reviewed the indefinite lives of its trade names and concluded that finite lives ranging from 5 to 10 years were
more appropriate, based on current market conditions and management’s revised expectations regarding the longevity of these assets. The Group
performed impairment tests of its trade names as of June 30, 2020 and recognized impairment losses for the Vacations, AMResorts, and UVC trade
names of $89,599, $25,994, and $31,601, respectively. After recording the impairment, the remaining value of the tradenames are considered part of
the finite-lived asset group and have been amortized from July 1 through December 31, 2020.

During 2019, the Group experienced a decline in market conditions in the Mexico and Dominican Republic, which resulted in the Group recording
goodwill impairment losses in the Vacations reporting unit of $170,076 and an impairment loss on the Mark Travel trade name of $16,800.

All impairment losses are recorded in Impairment of intangible and long-lived assets in the Statements of Comprehensive Loss. See Note 6, Goodwill
and Intangible Assets. Adverse conditions in the economy, changes in credit markets, the cyclical nature of the Group’s business, the high level of
competition within the Group’s industry and the concentration of the Group’s revenues in certain geographic regions may have adverse impacts on the
Group. These factors may affect individual reporting units disproportionately, relative to the Group as a whole. Therefore, actual results may differ
from projections for the Group’s reporting units, which may impact fair values of the reporting units and result in an additional impairment of
goodwill or intangible assets in the future.

Geographical Risk

A majority of the Group’s customers travel to Mexico, the Caribbean, and Spain. In addition, the majority of the resort properties where the Group
provides resort management services are located in Mexico, the Caribbean, and Spain. This concentration potentially exposes the Group to political,
economic, health and weather-related risks of these regions, among others.

Share Based Compensation

The Group follows the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation,” to account for share-based payment transactions
in which the Group receives employee services in exchange for equity instruments of the Group’s parent company. ASC 718 requires that an entity
measure the cost of equity-based service awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize the cost of such awards over the period
during which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award (the vesting period). The Group recognizes stock-based
compensation expense using the straight-line recognition method when it is probable that the performance condition will be achieved.

Commitments and Contingencies

The Group is subject to claims and other legal actions in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition or results of operations.

Income Taxes

The Group determines the deferred tax asset or liability for each temporary difference separately for each tax-paying component in each jurisdiction,
based on the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the Group realizes the underlying items of income and expense within each jurisdiction.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the Group’s estimation of the future tax
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consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for book and tax purposes. The Group determines
deferred income taxes based on the differences in accounting methods and timing between financial statement and income tax reporting. Accordingly,
the Group determines the deferred tax asset or liability for each temporary difference based on the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the
Group realizes the underlying items of income and expense. The Group considers many factors when assessing the likelihood of future realization of
its deferred tax assets, including its recent earnings experience by jurisdiction, expectations of future taxable income and the carryforward periods
available to the Group for tax reporting purposes, as well as other relevant factors. The Group establishes a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amount it believes is more likely than not to be realized.

The Group accounts for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process of evaluating recognition and measurement criteria. The first step assesses
whether the tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the tax authority, including resolution of any appeals or
litigation, based on the technical merits of the position. If the tax position meets the more likely than not criteria, the portion of the tax benefit greater
than 50% likely to be realized upon settlement with the tax authority is recognized in the financial statements. The Group recognizes interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax expense line in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Loss. Accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax liability line in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Group presents taxes that it collects from customers and remits to government authorities on a net basis in its Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss.

 
4. UVC Deferred Costs and Deferred Revenue

The table below shows a rollforward of UVC deferred revenue and UVC deferred costs.    
 

   Deferred Revenue   Deferred Costs 
Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 401,707   $ 97,492 

Net additions from new contracts and upgrades    307,055    94,529 
Amortization, cancellations and free night usage    (139,831)    (26,416) 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2019    568,931    165,605 
    

 

    

 

Net additions from new contracts and upgrades    206,841    59,086 
Amortization, cancellations and free night usage    (109,661)    (32,470) 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2020    666,111    192,221 
    

 

    

 

Deferred revenue balances shown above include deferrals for free nights available but not yet used, remaining unearned balances for value ascribed to
exchange memberships, and unearned revenue for providing members access to discounted vacation packages. Future installment payments by UVC
members on the financed portion of their membership contracts are recorded to deferred revenue when the Group receives the cash. Related direct
costs incurred for the origination of the contract, such as commissions, are recorded to deferred costs at contract inception and amortized over the
expected customer life.
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5. Balance Sheet Detail

Details of Prepaid expenses and other current assets at December 31 are as follows:    
 

   2020    2019  
Prepaid travel expenses   $ 71,555   $ 45,491 
Other prepaid expenses    25,386    40,239 
Deposits and other assets, current    26,314    24,475 

    
 

    
 

Total Prepaid expenses and other current assets   $123,255   $110,205 
    

 

    

 

Details of Other long-term assets at December 31 are as follows:
 

   2020    2019  
Loans receivable, net of current portion   $10,136   $21,165 
Deposits and other assets, long-term    51,040    38,820 

    
 

    
 

Total other long-term assets   $61,176   $59,985 
    

 

    

 

Details of Accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31 are as follows:
 

   2020    2019  
Travel accounts payable and accrued expenses   $301,702   $194,527 
Other accounts payable    56,469    80,054 
Accrued payroll and related    18,026    30,168 
Other accrued expenses    67,426    65,886 

    
 

    
 

Total Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $443,623   $370,635 
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6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets, indefinite-lived and finite-lived, were significantly impacted by the impairment that occurred in 2020. See Note 3,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for further information. The table below shows a rollforward of indefinite-lived intangible assets:

 

   

Beginning Net
Carrying 
Amount    

Acquired 
Intangible Assets   

Impairment
Losses   

Reclassification
to Finite-lived   

Impact of
Foreign 

Exchange  

Ending Net 
Carrying 
Amount  

2020          

Indefinite-lived intangible assets          
Trade name and trademarks   $ 281,663   $ —     $ (147,194)  $ (134,469)  $ —    $ —   
Goodwill    899,509    —      (274,952)   —     949   625,506 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

  $ 1,181,172   $ —     $ (422,146)  $ (134,469)  $ 949  $ 625,506 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

2019          

Indefinite-lived intangible assets          
Trade name and trademarks   $ 296,972   $ 1,425   $ (16,800)  $ —    $ 66  $ 281,663 
Goodwill    1,063,083    7,195    (170,076)   —     (693)   899,509 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

  $ 1,360,055   $ 8,620   $ (186,876)  $ —    $ (627)  $1,181,172 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The balances of finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31 were as follows:    
 

   

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization   

Impact of
Foreign 

Exchange   

Net 
Carrying 
Amount  

2020         

Finite-lived intangible assets         
Trade name and trademarks   $134,469   $ (9,096)   $ (30)   $125,343 
Customer relationships    415,732    (159,244)    491    256,979 
UVC member relationships    102,982    (96,546)    —      6,436 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $653,183   $ (264,886)   $ 461   $388,758 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

2019         

Finite-lived intangible assets         
Customer relationships   $453,823   $ (116,593)   $ (203)   $337,027 
UVC member relationships    102,982    (70,800)    —      32,182 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $556,805   $ (187,393)   $ (203)   $369,209 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Please see Note 3, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for a discussion of the impairments to customer relationships, trade names and
trademarks, and goodwill in 2020 and 2019. On an accumulated basis, the group has impaired $38,091 of Customer relationships, $172,763 of Trade
names and trademarks, and $543,461 of Goodwill through December 31, 2020.

The estimated useful life of acquired customer relationships ranges from 4 to 12 years, with a weighted average remaining useful life of 8.2 years at
December 31, 2020. In 2020, the Group concluded that its trade names are finite-lived intangible assets, to be amortized over lives ranging from 5 to
10 years. The trade names have a weighted average remaining useful life of 7.8 years at December 31, 2020. Amortization expense for finite-lived
intangible assets for the years ended
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December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $81,593 and $71,041, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is as follows:
 

Years ended December 31,     
2021   $57,894 
2022    49,199 
2023    49,199 
2024    49,199 
2025    44,406 

 
7. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment for the Group consists of the following at December 31:
 

   2020    2019    Useful Life  
Computer hardware, software and office equipment   $ 33,929   $ 77,183    3-5 years 
Furniture and fixtures    95    1,619    5-15 years 
Buildings and leasehold improvements    5,765    9,884    15 years 
Vehicles    1,386    1,496    5 years 
Internal use software in progress    172    7,431   

    
 

    
 

  

   41,347    97,613   
Less: Accumulated depreciation    (15,239)    (35,366)   

    
 

    
 

  

Property and equipment, net   $ 26,108   $ 62,247   
    

 

    

 

  

Depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $10,295 and $18,094, respectively. The Group recognized impairment losses
for certain property and equipment and capitalized software during 2020 – see Note 3.

 
8. Leases

The Group leases office space, office equipment, and vehicles under various noncancelable operating lease agreements with third parties. Our
operating leases may require minimum rent payments, contingent rent payments based on a percentage of revenue or income or rental payments
adjusted periodically for inflation or rent payments equal to the greater of a minimum rent or contingent rent. Our leases do not contain any residual
value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Total rent for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $18,172 and $28,924, respectively,
including variable rent of $366 and $3,907, respectively, related to Alua. These amounts are included in General and administrative expenses on the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss.
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Future minimum payments required under existing operating leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more are as follows:
 

Years ended December 31,     
2021    2,680 
2022    2,098 
2023    1,302 
2024    696 
2025    696 
Thereafter    116 

 
9. Defined Contribution Plan

The Group contributes to various defined contribution plans on behalf of its employees. The Group’s expense related to this contribution for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $3,412 and $4,489.

As required by local law in Mexico, the Group pays post-employment benefits to employees based on the seniority of the employee and the nature
and timing of their departure. The Group does not have plan assets set aside for these post-employment benefit payments. The net periodic cost for
these plans is determined using several actuarial assumptions, the most significant of which are the discount rate, which ranged from 5% to 7.5% for
the year ended December 31, 2020, and projected pay increase rate, which ranged from 4.25% to 4.5% for the year ended December 31, 2020. Service
costs are recorded in payroll and payroll-related, non-service costs are recorded in other income (expense), and actuarial gains and losses are recorded
in equity as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss. Service costs and non-service
costs were $977 and $3,998, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the accrued post-employment plan
liability recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets was $7,337, of which the current portion of $1,098 is classified within Accounts payable and
accrued expenses, and the long-term portion is classified within Other long-term liabilities.

 
10. Related-Party Transactions

The Group is required to pay management fees to affiliate entities owned by its majority equity owners. Based on the management fee agreement,
which renews annually and is terminable without penalty by consent of the parties, management fees are paid quarterly and are variable based on the
Group’s financial performance. Management fees for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $409 and $3,222, respectively, and are
recorded as General and administrative expenses. The accounts payable balances related to these costs as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $409
and $417, respectively, and are recorded as Accounts payable and accrued expenses. The group also paid consulting fees to an affiliate of its majority
equity owners during the year ended December 31, 2020 in the amount of $2,839, of which $2,609 was recorded as Accounts payable and accrued
expenses. Affiliate entities owned by its majority equity owners also issued $200,000 in debt during 2020. Ending debt balances to related parties as
of December 31, 2020 is $214,324, including $14,324 as interest payable in kind. Interest expense on the related party debt was $14,324 for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

During 2020 and 2019, the Group used a related party to provide business air travel services. The expense related to services provided for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled

 
22



“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 

$348 and $985, respectively, and are recorded as General and administrative expenses. The accounts payable balances related to these costs as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $0 and $100, respectively, and are recorded as Accounts payable and accrued expenses. During 2020 and 2019,
the group used a related party to provide on-line marketing services. The expense related to services provided for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 totaled $348 and $165, respectively, and are recorded as General and administrative expenses.

During 2020 and 2019, the Group Vacation companies incurred costs related to an excursion company partially owned by related parties. The expense
related to services provided totaled 2,139 and $7,434 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, recorded as cost of sales. The
accounts payable balance related to these costs was $0 and $225 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which is recorded as Accounts
payable and accrued expenses.

The Group leased office facilities from related companies under various noncancelable lease agreements that terminate on December 31, 2020. The
related rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $4,100 and 5,080, respectively, and are recorded as General and
administrative expenses. There were no rent payable balances related to these costs as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Group’s Vacation companies incur costs related to hotel stays at resorts partially owned by related parties. Additionally, Amstar leases customer
service and excursion sale facilities from these resorts, and also pays the resorts commissions for excursion sales charged to guests’ rooms. UVC also
leases sales and service facilities from these resorts and pays commissions to the resorts where membership sales occur. In addition, UVC purchases
resort services and room nights, to give away to prospective club members as free nights, from these resorts. The total costs for these activities for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $24,815 and $47,348, respectively, and are recorded as General and administrative expenses. The
accounts payable balance the Group owed to these resorts for these activities at December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $3,971 and $4,811, respectively,
and is recorded as Accounts payable and accrued expenses.

AMResorts received management and incentive fees from resorts partially owned by related parties for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
totaling $10,137 and $25,155, respectively, and are recorded as Sales/revenue. AMResorts’ accounts receivable from resorts partially owned by
related parties for management and incentive fees at December 31, 2020 and 2019, totaled $4,117 and $3,973, respectively, and is recorded as
Accounts receivable, net.

The Group incurs certain other costs in connection with related party transactions, none of which are material individually or in the aggregate.
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11. Long-Term Debt

The Group had the following debt obligations at December 31:                
 

   Outstanding Balance  
   2020    2019  
First Lien Term Loan Facility   $ 923,875   $933,375 
2020 Note Facility    250,000    —   
PIK Interest on 2020 Note Facility    22,376    —   
Revolving Line of Credit    175,000    —   
Bank Term Debt (held by non-Guarantor subsidiary)    7,444    —   
Less: Unamortized debt discount    (16,406)    (21,455) 

    
 

    
 

Total debt, net of unamortized debt discount    1,362,289    911,920 

Less: Unamortized deferred financing costs    (16,984)    (17,450) 
Less: Current portion of First Lien Term Loan Facility    (9,500)    (9,500) 
Less: Current portion of Bank Term Debt (held by non-Guarantor subsidiary)    (1,340)    —   

    
 

    
 

Long-term portion   $1,334,465   $884,970 
    

 

    

 

The following table reflects the scheduled annual maturities of the Group’s debt obligations as of December 31, 2020:
 

Years ended December 31,   Amount Due 
2021    10,840 
2022    11,244 
2023    186,244 
2024    897,119 
2025    273,248 

First Lien Credit Agreement

The Group’s First Lien Credit Agreement includes a First Lien Term Loan Facility in the aggregate initial principal amount of $950,000 and a
Revolving Facility in the aggregate principal amount of up to $175,000. The First Lien Term Loan Facility has a maturity date of March 31, 2024 and
the Revolving Facility has a maturity date of December 31, 2023.

In addition to the payments pursuant to scheduled maturities of the First Lien Term Loan Facility, principal payments can be made at any time
without prepayment or penalty. The Group is required to make mandatory prepayments in an amount equal to 50% of excess cash flow, if and to the
extent that excess cash flow for the fiscal year exceeds $10,000, with step-downs subject to the achievement of certain leverage ratios. There is no
mandatory prepayment expected to be made during 2021 for the year ended December 31, 2020 based on the calculation set forth in the agreement
governing the First Lien Term Loan Facility, nor was there one made during 2020 for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The First Lien Credit Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants, including financial covenants of a Consolidated First Lien Secured
Debt to Consolidated EBITDA Ratio covenant. In conjunction with the issuance of the 2020 Note Facility (see below), the covenants for the
Revolving Facility were revised to suspend the Consolidated First Lien Secured Debt to
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Consolidated EBITDA Ratio covenant until the maturity of the Revolving Credit Line. Instead, it requires minimum liquidity of $25,000 at the end of
each month through to December 2023. If (i) liquidity falls below $40,000; or (ii) is forecasted in the next 3 months to fall under $25,000, the First
Lien Credit Agreement covenants require the shareholders to commit up to an additional $65,000 in cash under the same terms as the 2020 Note
Facility to stay above the $40,000 liquidity threshold until the $65,000 is exhausted.

Dividends or other distributions and payments (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect to any equity interest of the borrowers are
limited subject to certain exceptions set forth in the First Lien Credit Agreement, as applicable.

2020 Note Facility

On August 10, 2020, in connection with management’s plan to ensure sufficient operating cash given the impact of due to COVID-19, the Group
issued a new $200,000 note, which was acquired by its existing shareholders (See Note 10, Related Party Transactions). On September 9, 2020, the
Group issued an additional $50,000 of notes under the 2020 Note Facility to unrelated third parties. The new debt total of $250,000 is referred to as
the “2020 Note Facility”. The 2020 Note Facility matures in 2025.

The interest rates under the facilities are as follows:

First Lien Credit Agreement

At the option of the Group, initially, the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 4.00% or Alternate Base Rate (ABR) plus 3.00%.

The applicable LIBOR margins shall be subject (i) to a step-down to 3.75% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of
3.75:1.0 and (ii) to a step-down to 3.50% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of 3.25:1.0. The applicable ABR margins
shall be subject (i) to a step-down to 2.75% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of 3.75:1.0 and (ii) to a step-down to
2.50% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of 3.25:1.0. Accrued interest balances incurred on the First Lien Credit
Agreement were included within Accounts payable and other accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020
and December 31, 2019 in the amounts of $8,377 and $9,317, respectively.

The Borrowers must also pay each revolving credit lender a facility fee from August 10, 2020 to the termination of the revolving facility
based on aggregate commitments, which may be paid as a cash facility fee at a rate of 6.00% per annum, or a PIK facility fee at a rate of
7.50% per annum.

2020 Note Facility

The interest rate on the 2020 Notes is 18%, payable in kind (“PIK”), without an election to pay in cash, and therefore interest is accrued at the
stated 18% rate and accumulates as additional principal owed at maturity.
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Bank Term Debt held by non-Guarantor subsidiary

In 2020, a subsidiary (which is not a Guarantor of the First Lien Term Loan Facility) issued a series of bank term loan facilities to ensure sufficient
cash for operations during COVID-19. The outstanding balances of these loans totaled $7,444 (restated Euro denominated loan balances) as of
December 31, 2020. The loans are payable over terms of 3-5 years, and bear interest rates of LIBOR plus 1.5%-3%.

Due to the variable nature of the interest rates for the First Lien Term Loan Facility, and recent issuance of the 2020 Note and Revolving Line and
consistent risk rating and external factors from the issuance period to periods ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, the fair value of the
debt approximates the carrying value disclosed above.

 
12. Equity Based Compensation

Equity based compensation is utilized by management as an incentive to employees, tying performance-based compensation to operating results over
specified periods of time. Equity awards are granted subject to approval by the Board of Directors. Profit Interest Unit awards (“PIUs”) contain
various vesting conditions. The time vesting condition stipulates that the awards vest 20% per year on each of the first five anniversaries of the grant
date. Such awards fully satisfy the time vesting condition upon a change in control of the Group. The ultimate vesting of the PIUs only occurs upon a
change in ownership or business acquisition (performance condition) in which the controlling shareholders of the Group receive a minimum rate of
return on their initial investment (market condition). Upon a termination by the Group other than for cause or poor performance, or termination due to
disability, death or for a good reason, a number of PIUs proportional to the service provided will be deemed to have satisfied the time-vesting
condition and shall remain outstanding and eligible to satisfy the performance and market vesting conditions. Awards are forfeited if termination is
for cause, performance, or by the employee without good reason within five years of the closing date.

On December 18, 2020, the Group issued a new category (“Class B’) of PIUs. The Class B units are subject to the same vesting conditions as the
previously issued units (hereinafter referred to as “Class A”), except that the Class B PIUs are not subject to the same market condition (minimum
rate of return) for vesting as the Class A PIUs. The Group’s parent company had previously amended the Profits Interest Plan on October 30, 2019 to
provide for an additional form of award under a new plan, the 2019 Equity Appreciation Unit Plan (“EAU’s”). The EAUs are subject to similar terms
and conditions as the PIUs and the fair value of the awards are not material. The authorized limit covering both Class A PIUs and EAUs was
7,203,265 (unchanged during 2020), and the authorized limit covering Class B PIUs is 10,000,000 as of December 31, 2020.
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The table below shows units by category, which were issued, forfeited, and outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
 

(Units issued in actual amounts below)             
   Class A PIUs   EAUs    Class B PIUs 
Outstanding at December 31, 2018    5,928,246    —      —   

Issued in 2019    2,177,892    122,704    —   
Forfeited/Repurchased in 2019    (1,299,659)    —      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Outstanding at December 31, 2019    6,806,479    122,704    —   
    

 

    

 

    

 

Issued in 2020    317,500    —      7,300,000 
Forfeited/Repurchased in 2020    (965,031)    (38,345)    —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Outstanding at December 31, 2020    6,158,948    84,359    7,300,000 
    

 

    

 

    

 

The Group estimates the likelihood of achieving the performance conditions and does not recognize the cost of share-based compensation for PIU
awards with performance conditions if it concludes that it is not probable that the performance condition will be achieved. Awards that vest on the
consummation of a change in ownership or business acquisition are recognized when the ownership change or acquisition is considered probable. The
Group has determined that as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, it is not probable that the performance conditions will be achieved, and as such, has
not recognized any cost for share-based compensation for any of the PIU or EAU awards. The fair value of the PIU and EAU awards issued to
employees are remeasured on each balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2020, there was total unrecognized share-based compensation expense
related to Class A and Class B PIUs of approximately $677 and $1,971, respectively, based on respective fair values as of the end of the period of
$0.11 and $0.27 per PIU class, respectively. Such expense will begin to be recognized only when it becomes probable the performance conditions will
be achieved.

Since the Group’s parent company is not publicly traded, the fair value of PIUs was determined by first determining an enterprise value of its parent
company. The value was discounted by 50% for lack of marketability to arrive at the fair market value of the PIUs, which was derived using a risk-
neutral simulation method. Since the Group’s parent company is not publicly traded, the assumptions included in the risk-neutral simulation method
were based on the terms of the PIUs, along with inputs including the risk-free rate (2.5%), expected volatility (95.0%) and expected term (four to six
years from date of grant). The annual risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the equity awards was based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatilities were based on implied volatilities from market comparisons of certain comparable publicly
traded companies and other factors.
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13. Income Tax

The following table summarizes ALG’s U.S. and foreign loss before income taxes:
 

   

Year Ended 
December 31,

2020    

Year Ended 
December 31,

2019  
U.S.    (548,503)    (180,593) 
Non-U.S.    (279,826)    (182,431) 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ (828,329)   $ (363,024) 
    

 

    

 

The income tax (benefit) expense shown in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss consists of the following:
 

   

Year Ended 
December 31,

2020    

Year Ended 
December 31,

2019  
Current     
United States     

Federal   $ (4)   $ (1,236) 
State    115    422 

Non-U.S.    11,911    19,246 
    

 
    

 

Current income tax expense    12,022    18,432 
    

 
    

 

Deferred     
United States     

Federal    (15,847)    (3,428) 
State    (3,148)    873 

Non-U.S.    (14,549)    112 
    

 
    

 

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense    (33,544)    (2,443) 
    

 
    

 

Total income tax expense   $ (21,522)   $ 15,989 
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As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the significant components of the Group’s deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:
 

   

Year Ended 
December 31,

2020    

Year Ended 
December 31,

2019  
Deferred Tax Assets     

Allowance for Bad Debt    1,920    1,432 
Accrued Expenses    19,065    22,215 
Net Operating Loss Carryforward    124,803    73,556 
Interest Carryforward    34,743    20,630 
Deferred Revenue    37,188    35,927 
Other Assets    2,924    2,180 

    
 

    
 

Gross Deferred Tax Assets    220,643    155,940 

Less VA:    (181,264)    (100,264) 

Net Deferred Tax Assets    39,379    55,676 

Deferred Tax Liabilities     

Depreciation    (5,128)    (9,248) 
Outside Basis Differences    (6,109)    (6,272) 
Intangible Assets    (52,561)    (97,592) 
Other Liabilities    (12,164)    (12,401) 

    
 

    
 

Gross Deferred Liabilities    (75,962)    (125,513) 
    

 
    

 

Total Net Deferred Tax Liabilities    (36,583)    (69,837) 
    

 
    

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Group had gross operating loss carryforwards of approximately $807,319 consisting of approximately $324,668 for
U.S. federal income tax purposes, $270,231 for U.S. State income tax purposes and $213,420 for foreign income tax purposes. These tax loss
carryforwards generally expire through 2041, with federal tax losses generated in 2018 and onward having an unlimited life, and utilization is limited
in certain jurisdictions. Certain tax attributes are subject to an annual limitation as a result of previous ownership changes which constitute a change
of ownership as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group has a valuation allowance of $181,264 and $100,264, respectively, related to certain tax attribute
carryforwards for which it is more likely than not the tax benefits will not be realized. The valuation allowance increased by $81,000 from the amount
recorded as of December 31, 2019 primarily due to the additional net operating losses that were generated in the current year.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
 

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Group’s effective income tax rate is as follows:
 

   

Year Ended 
December 31,

2020   

Year Ended 
December 31,

2019  
U.S. statutory tax rate    21.00%   21.00% 
U.S. state income tax rate, net of federal    0.29%   -0.28% 
Effect of Foreign Operations    -1.57%   -2.08% 
Valuation allowance    -8.70%   -6.94% 
Uncertain tax positions    -1.01%   -2.16% 
Effect of Tax Law Change    0.00%   -0.83% 
Non-Deductible Goodwill    -6.85%   -9.92% 
Other    -0.57%   -3.19% 

    
 

   
 

Effective Income Tax Rate    2.59%   -4.40% 
    

 

   

 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
 

   2020    2019  
Balance, beginning of year   $86,498   $78,605 
Increases to tax positions related to the current year   $ —     $ —   
Increases to tax positions related to prior years   $ (222)   $ 1,920 
Decreases to tax positions related to prior years   $ —     $ —   
Reductions due to lapsed statute of limitations   $ (3,362)   $ (2,810) 
Settlements during current year   $ —     $ —   
Interest and penalties   $10,453   $ 8,783 

    
 

    
 

Balance, end of year   $93,367   $86,498 
    

 

    

 

The Group recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax expense line in the accompanying
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group had $93,367 and $86,498, respectively, of gross
unrecognized tax benefits recorded as Other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, all of which, if recognized, would affect the
effective tax rate. The accrued penalties and interest that are included in the year-end uncertain tax position reserves noted above as of December 31,
2020 and 2019 are $49,356 and $38,903, respectively.

The Group is subject to taxation in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2020, the Group’s tax years
beginning with 2016 are still subject to examination by the tax authorities.

 
14. Subsequent Events

The Group evaluated its December 31, 2020 consolidated financial statements for subsequent events through March 31, 2021, the date the
consolidated financial statements were issued. There were no identified subsequent events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial
statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
 
 
(in thousands of dollars)   June 30, 2021  December 31, 2020 
   (Unaudited)     
Assets    
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 694,692  $ 222,625 
Restricted cash    37,620   31,740 
Accounts receivable, net    108,455   74,657 
UVC current deferred costs    19,069   18,005 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    88,448   123,255 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    948,284   470,282 
    

 
   

 

Property and equipment, net    24,353   26,108 

Goodwill    625,531   625,506 
Intangible assets    354,488   388,758 
Deferred tax assets    8,479   8,479 
UVC long-term deferred costs    200,899   174,216 
Other long-term assets    92,565   61,176 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 2,254,599  $ 1,754,525 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and (Deficit) Equity    
Current liabilities    

UVC deferred revenue   $ 53,962  $ 54,553 
Customer deposits    635,743   255,095 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    550,579   443,623 
Current portion of long-term debt    11,453   10,840 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    1,251,737   764,111 
    

 
   

 

Long-term debt, net of current portion    1,366,966   1,334,465 
Deferred tax liabilities    41,611   45,062 
UVC deferred revenue    685,542   611,558 
Other long-term liabilities    108,500   102,542 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities   $ 3,454,356  $ 2,857,738 
    

 

   

 

(Deficit) equity    
Members’ equity    518,898   518,898 
Accumulated deficit    (1,713,364)   (1,620,504) 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income    (2,051)   47 

    
 

   
 

Total (deficit) equity attributable to Apple Leisure Group    (1,196,517)   (1,101,559) 
Noncontrolling interest    (3,240)   (1,654) 

    
 

   
 

Total (deficit) equity    (1,199,757)   (1,103,213) 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and (deficit) equity   $ 2,254,599  $ 1,754,525 
    

 

   

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss (Unaudited)
 
 
   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands of dollars)   2021   2020  
Sales/revenue   $ 345,295  $ 253,452 
Cost reimbursement    24,909   31,022 

    
 

   
 

Total revenue    370,204   284,474 
    

 
   

 

Costs and expenses    
Direct cost of sales    75,892   88,476 
Commissions    82,096   75,646 
Reimbursable costs    26,551   30,713 
General and administrative    46,712   54,000 
Sales and marketing    49,453   33,765 
Payroll and payroll-related    86,019   110,289 
Depreciation and amortization    38,664   44,684 
Impairment of intangible and long-lived assets    —     486,955 

    
 

   
 

Total costs and expenses    405,387   924,528 
    

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (35,183)   (640,054) 
Interest income    482   562 
Interest expense    (60,454)   (33,421) 
Other income    895   34 

    
 

   
 

Loss before income taxes    (94,260)   (672,879) 

Income tax expense (benefit)    405   (8,890) 
    

 
   

 

Net loss    (94,665)   (663,989) 
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest    (1,805)   (2,642) 

    
 

   
 

Net loss attributable to Apple Leisure Group    (92,860)   (661,347) 

Other comprehensive (loss) income    
Change in postretirement benefit liabilities    —     (1,670) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of $219 and ($77) attributable to non-controlling interest    (2,098)   3,114 

    
 

   
 

Total other comprehensive (loss) income    (2,098)   1,444 
    

 
   

 

Comprehensive loss attributable to Apple Leisure Group   $ (94,958)  $ (659,903) 
    

 

   

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in (Deficit) Equity (Unaudited)
 
 

(in thousands of dollars)   
Paid-In 
Capital    

Accumulated
Deficit   

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income   

Noncontrolling
Interest   

Total 
Deficit  

Balances at December 31, 2019   $518,898   $ (818,959)  $ 1,264  $ 3,891  $ (294,906) 
Net loss    —      (661,347)   —     (2,642)   (663,989) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)    —      —     1,444   (77)   1,367 
Distributions to parent    —      (200)   —     —     (200) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at June 30, 2020    518,898    (1,480,506)   2,708   1,172   (957,728) 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balances at December 31, 2020    518,898    (1,620,504)   47   (1,654)   (1,103,213) 
Net loss    —      (92,860)   —     (1,805)   (94,665) 
Other comprehensive loss    —      —     (2,098)   219   (1,879) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at June 30, 2021   $518,898   $(1,713,364)  $ (2,051)  $ (3,240)  $(1,199,757) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
 
 
   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands of dollars)   2021   2020  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net loss    (94,665)   (663,989) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities Depreciation/amortization    38,664   44,684 

Impairment of intangible assets and long lived assets    —     486,955 
Deferred tax benefit    (3,451)   (3,479) 
Non cash interest    36,849   4,698 
Bad debt expense    1,695   1,154 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable    (35,191)   62,726 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    37,528   (107,761) 
UVC deferred costs    (27,747)   (13,446) 
UVC deferred revenue    73,393   51,671 
Other long-term assets    (22,720)   (8,621) 
Customer deposits and other liabilities    381,176   (227,421) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    106,465   223,674 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    491,996   (149,155) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Capital expenditures, including internal-use software    (3,098)   (3,640) 
Investments in loans receivable    (4,916)   (2,541) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (8,014)   (6,181) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Principal payments on long-term debt    (4,750)   (4,750) 
Borrowings on revolving credit facility and other    1,015   175,000 
Distribution    —     (200) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (3,735)   170,050 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (2,300)   (735) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash    477,947   13,979 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash    
Beginning of period    254,365   139,607 

    
 

   
 

End of period    732,312   153,586 
    

 
   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    694,692   120,020 
Restricted cash, end of period    37,620   33,566 

    
 

   
 

Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash    732,312   153,586 
    

 
   

 

Cash paid during period for interest    23,475   29,525 
Cash paid during period for taxes    2,504   4,634 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 
1. Nature of Business

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all information or footnotes required by
GAAP for complete annual financial statements. As a result, these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 (the “2020 Financial Statements”).

Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries, known as “Apple Leisure Group” (herein referred to as “the Group” or “ALG”), is a
vertically integrated leisure travel company with three core businesses that generate revenue:

Vacations, which generates revenue through the offering of travel products and services under the following brands: “Apple Vacations,” “Amstar,”
“Beachbound,” “Blue Sky Tours,” “Cheap Caribbean,” “Funjet Vacations,” “Funway Holidays,” and “Travel Impressions,” and the licensed brands
“Southwest Vacations” and “United Vacations.” The Group’s offerings under these brands primarily include some or all of the following: air
transportation provided by the Group (“charter flight”) or third-party air carriers (“scheduled air”), hotel accommodations provided by third-party
resorts, travel insurance provided by either the Group or third-party insurance companies, ground transportation provided by the Group, car rental
reservations and excursions provided by third parties. In addition, the Vacations business includes the operations of “Trisept Solutions,” which
delivers technology solutions through its operating suite that connects agents with leading travel suppliers.

Resort Management (hereinafter referred to as “AMResorts” or “AMR”), which generates revenue through marketing and brand management of
exclusive resort properties. AMResorts provides sales, marketing and brand management services for seven brands of exclusive resort properties in
Mexico, the Dominican Republic, Jamaica, Costa Rica, Curaçao, Panama, and Spain: “Zoëtry Wellness & Spa Resorts,” “Secrets Resorts & Spas,”
“Dreams Resorts & Spas,” “Now Resorts & Spas,” “Sunscape Resorts & Spas,” “Breathless Resorts & Spas,” “Reflect Resorts & Spas” and “Alua
Hotels & Resorts” (hereinafter referred to as “Alua”). In addition to sales directly to the public through the brand website, vacation packages for these
resorts are available through travel wholesale and retail agencies, including Apple Vacations, Beachbound, Cheap Caribbean, Funjet Vacations,
Funway Holidays and Travel Impressions. As of June 30, 2021, AMResorts manages 79 resorts (31 in Mexico, 25 in Spain, 11 in the Dominican
Republic, 4 in Jamaica, 2 in Costa Rica, 2 in Curaçao, 2 in Greece, 1 in St. Martin, and 1 in Panama).

Unlimited Vacation Club (hereinafter referred to as “UVC”), which generates revenue through the sale of memberships in a vacation club.
Membership primarily entitles the member to discounted pricing for resort stays at certain AMResorts properties. Different categories of membership
provide access to varying levels of benefits, including the number of free nights granted (free nights are a limited number of nights paid for by UVC),
membership incentives, different categories of resort rooms, different properties, the periods during the year when the discounted stays may be used
and the length of membership.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 
2. Recent Accounting Policies Not Yet Adopted

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by
requiring the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. Most prominent among the amendments is the recognition of
assets and liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under current U.S. GAAP. Under the new standard, disclosures are
required to meet the objective of enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842) - Targeted Improvements.” The update provides an additional (optional) transition
method to adopt the new lease standard, allowing entities to apply the new lease standard at the adoption date. The Group expects to adopt Topic 842
following this optional transition method. Accordingly, comparative financial statements for periods prior to the date of adoption will not be adjusted.

The Group currently believes the most significant impact upon adoption on January 1, 2022 will be the recognition of right-of-use asset and lease
liability on the Group’s Consolidated Balance Sheets related to accounting for office space operating leases.

Credit losses

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments,” which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost, which includes the
Group’s accounts receivables, certain financial instruments and contract assets. ASU 2016-13 replaces the existing incurred loss impairment model
with an expected loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of credit losses. ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual reporting
periods, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2022, and requires a cumulative effect adjustment to the balance sheet
as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU
2016-13.

 
3. Fair Value Measurements

The Group follows the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” for fair value measurements of financial
assets and financial liabilities and for fair value measurements of nonfinancial items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial
statements on a recurring and non-recurring basis.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date (exit price). Fair value measurements are categorized with the highest priority given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority given to unobservable inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1    Assets or liabilities for which the item is valued based on quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 

Level 2    Assets or liabilities valued based on observable market data for similar instruments.

Level 3    Assets or liabilities for which significant valuation assumptions are not readily observable in the market; instruments valued based on the
best available data, some of which is internally-developed, and considers risk premiums that a market participant would require.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.

The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of the fair value
of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.

The fair value of long-term debt is discussed in Note 11. The carrying values of all other current financial assets and current financial liabilities
approximate fair values due to their short-term nature.

The Group invests a portion of cash into short-term interest-bearing money market funds that have a maturity of less than 90 days. Consequently, the
balances are recorded in cash and cash equivalents. The funds are held with open-ended registered investment companies, and the fair value of the
funds is classified as Level 1 as market available pricing information is available on an ongoing basis. The balances of cash equivalents held in money
market accounts were $190,461 and $150,157 as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

The Group considers cash deposited or escrowed in accordance with contractual obligations or regulatory requirements as restricted. The Group
maintains restricted cash, which is invested in certificates of deposit and money market accounts, as security for purchasing card agreements and
letters of credit issued for contracts executed with certain hotels and air carriers. The Group also maintains restricted cash related to its charter air
contracts as U.S. Department of Transportation regulations require charter operators to escrow customer funds received related to the flights’
operations until after the flights have departed or until they are paid to the charter airlines, who in turn, escrow the funds pursuant to the regulations.

 
4. Impairment Reviews for Goodwill, Indefinite-Lived, and Long-Lived Assets

The Group periodically reviews carrying values and useful lives of long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. During 2020, Management identified impairment indicators for its long-lived
assets as of June 30, 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s business and determined that an impairment test was required for certain
of the asset groups (i.e. the brands) within the Vacations reporting unit. The Group estimated the fair value of the asset groups primarily using an
income approach which was based on the discounted expected future cash flows for each brand. The discount rate was based on the estimated
weighted average cost of capital for each brand and ranged from 17-18%. The inputs used to measure these assets at fair value as of June 30, 2020
represent Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 

As a result of the impairment tests performed, the Group recognized impairment losses for the following long-lived assets as of June 30, 2020:
 

 (1) $38,091 related to customer relationship intangible assets for the Southwest, Funjet, United Vacations and Apple Vacations brands;
 

 (2) $5,835 related to property and equipment for the Funjet and Apple Vacations brands;
 

 (3) $20,883 related to capitalized software and developed technology for Trisept.

The Group tests for the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually on the first day of the fourth quarter, or more
frequently when negative conditions or triggering events occur, in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles-Goodwill
and Other” and ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) – Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.” During 2020, the
Group experienced negative impacts on the business due to COVID-19 which resulted in declines in revenues from travel products and services
across all reporting units and uncertainty in the rate and timing of the Group’s recovery. As a result, the Group concluded that indicators of
impairment existed as of June 30, 2020, and performed goodwill impairment tests for all of its reporting units at that date. The Group recognized
impairment losses for the goodwill in the Vacations and AMResorts reporting units of $234,637 and $40,315, respectively.

As of June 30, 2020, management reviewed the indefinite lives of its trade names and concluded that finite lives ranging from 5 to 10 years were
more appropriate, based on current market conditions and management’s revised expectations regarding the longevity of these assets. The Group
performed impairment tests of its trade names as of June 30, 2020 and recognized impairment losses for the Vacations, AMResorts, and UVC trade
names of $89,599, $25,994, and $31,601, respectively.

All impairment losses are recorded in Impairment of intangible and long-lived assets in the Statements of Comprehensive Loss. See Note 7, Goodwill
and Intangible Assets.

 
5. Revenue Recognition

The Group recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of the Group’s promised services in an amount that reflects the consideration the Group
expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services in accordance with ASC 606. The Group’s revenue recognition accounting policies for each of
its three core business are described in the notes to the 2020 Financial Statements.

Vacations recognized revenue of $267,752 and $185,633 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, all of which was recognized at a point in
time. AMR recognized revenue of $52,424 and $48,853 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, all of which was recognized over time.
UVC recognized revenue of $50,028 and $49,988 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, of which $34,153 and $35,944 was recognized
over time in those respective periods, and the remaining amounts were recognized at a point in time.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 
6. Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable primarily include amounts outstanding from customers for scheduled air bookings and from resorts for resort management
contracts. The Group regularly evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable based on factors such as recent payment history and recognizes an
allowance as considered necessary. At June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $4,997 and $6,593,
respectively. Bad debt expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $1,695 and $1,154, respectively, and is recorded in General
and administrative expenses.

 
7. UVC Deferred Costs and Deferred Revenue

The table below shows a rollforward of UVC deferred revenue and UVC deferred costs.
 

   Deferred Revenue   Deferred Costs 
Balance at December 31, 2020    666,111    192,221 

Net additions from new contracts and upgrades    136,368    44,384 
Amortization, cancellations and free night usage    (62,975)    (16,637) 

    
 

    
 

Balance at June 30, 2021    739,504    219,968 
    

 
    

 

Deferred revenue balances shown above include deferrals for free nights available but not yet used, remaining unearned balances for value ascribed to
exchange memberships, and unearned revenue for providing members access to discounted vacation packages. Future installment payments by UVC
members on the financed portion of their membership contracts are recorded to deferred revenue when the Group receives the cash. Related direct
costs incurred for the origination of the contract, such as commissions, are recorded to deferred costs at contract inception and amortized over the
expected customer life.

 
8. Balance Sheet Detail

Details of Prepaid expenses and other current assets are as follows:
 

   June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 
Prepaid travel expenses   $ 53,980   $ 71,555 
Other prepaid expenses    31,120    25,386 
Deposits and other assets, current    3,348    26,314 

    
 

    
 

Total Prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ 88,448   $ 123,255 
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 

Details of Other long-term assets are as follows:
 

   June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 
Loans receivable, net of current portion   $ 21,331   $ 10,136 
Deposits and other assets, long-term    71,234    51,040 

    
 

    
 

Total other long-term assets   $ 92,565   $ 61,176 
    

 

    

 

Details of Accounts payable and accrued expenses are as follows:
 

   June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 
Travel accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 370,732   $ 301,702 
Other accounts payable    85,206    56,469 
Accrued payroll and related    29,111    18,026 
Other accrued expenses    65,530    67,426 

    
 

    
 

Total Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 550,579   $ 443,623 
    

 

    

 

 
9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill changed from December 31, 2020 to June 30, 2021 due to foreign currency translation. The balances of finite-lived intangible assets are as
follows:

 

   

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization   

Impact of
Foreign 

Exchange   

Net 
Carrying 
Amount  

June 30, 2021         

Finite-lived intangible assets         
Trade name and trademarks   $134,469   $ (18,216)   $ (785)   $115,468 
Customer relationships    415,732    (176,983)    271    239,020 
UVC member relationships    102,982    (102,982)    —      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $653,183   $ (298,181)   $ (514)   $354,488 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

December 31, 2020         

Finite-lived intangible assets         
Trade name and trademarks   $134,469   $ (9,096)   $ (30)   $125,343 
Customer relationships   $415,732   $ (159,244)   $ 491   $256,979 
UVC member relationships    102,982    (96,546)    —      6,436 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $653,183   $ (264,886)   $ 461   $388,758 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The estimated useful life of acquired customer relationships ranges from 4 to 12 years, with a weighted average remaining useful life of 7.7 years at
June 30, 2021. In 2020, the Group concluded that its trade names are finite-lived intangible assets, to be amortized over lives ranging from 5 to 10
years. The trade names have a weighted average remaining useful life of 7.4 years at June 30, 2021. Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible
assets for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $33,295 and $35,550 respectively.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 
10. Related-Party Transactions

The Group is required to pay management fees to affiliate entities owned by its majority equity owners. Based on the management fee agreement,
which renews annually and is terminable without penalty by consent of the parties, management fees are paid quarterly and are variable based on the
Group’s financial performance. Management fees for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $0 and $409, respectively, and are
recorded as General and administrative expenses. The accounts payable balances related to these costs as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020
were $409 and $409, respectively, and are recorded as Accounts payable and accrued expenses. The group also incurred consulting fees to an affiliate
of its majority equity owners during the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 in the amount of $570 and $1,148, respectively, of which $3,179
and $2,609 was recorded as Accounts payable and accrued expenses at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Affiliate entities owned
by its majority equity owners also issued $200,000 in debt during 2020. Ending debt balances to related parties as of June 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020 is $234,078 and $214,324, including $34,078 and $14,324, respectively, as interest payable in kind. Interest expense on the related party debt
was $19,754 for the six months ended June 30, 2021.

During 2021 and 2020, the Group used a related party to provide business air travel services. The expense related to services provided for the six
months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $238 and $253, respectively, and are recorded as General and administrative expenses. During 2021
and 2020, the group used a related party to provide on-line marketing services. The expense related to services provided for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $287 and $152, respectively, and are recorded as General and administrative expenses.

During 2020, the Group Vacation companies incurred costs related to an excursion company partially owned by related parties. The expense related to
services provided totaled $1,708 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, recorded as cost of sales.

The Group leased office facilities from related companies under various noncancelable lease agreements. The related rent expense for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $1,414 and $1,921, respectively, and are recorded as General and administrative expenses.

The Group’s Vacation companies incur costs related to hotel stays at resorts partially owned by related parties. Additionally, Amstar leases customer
service and excursion sale facilities from these resorts, and also pays the resorts commissions for excursion sales charged to guests’ rooms. UVC also
leases sales and service facilities from these resorts and pays commissions to the resorts where membership sales occur. In addition, UVC purchases
resort services and room nights, to give away to prospective club members as free nights, from these resorts. The total costs for these activities for the
six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were $13,868 and $14,296, respectively, and are recorded as General and administrative expenses. The
accounts payable balance the Group owed to these resorts for these activities at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was $4,700 and $3,971,
respectively, and is recorded as Accounts payable and accrued expenses.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 

AMResorts received management and incentive fees from resorts partially owned by related parties for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
totaling $6,090 and $6,435, respectively, and are recorded as Sales/revenue. AMResorts’ accounts receivable from resorts partially owned by related
parties for management and incentive fees at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, totaled $2,653 and $4,117, respectively, and is recorded as
Accounts receivable, net.

The Group incurs certain other costs in connection with related party transactions, none of which are material individually or in the aggregate.

 
11. Long-Term Debt

The Group had the following debt obligations at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:
 

   Outstanding Balance  
   June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 
First Lien Term Loan Facility   $ 919,125   $ 923,875 
2020 Note Facility    250,000    250,000 
PIK Interest on 2020 Note Facility    54,186    22,376 
Revolving Line of Credit    175,000    175,000 
Bank Term Debt (held by non-Guarantor subsidiary)    8,460    7,444 
Less: Unamortized debt discount    (13,882)    (16,406) 

    
 

    
 

Total debt, net of unamortized debt discount    1,392,889    1,362,289 

Less: Unamortized deferred financing costs    (14,470)    (16,984) 
Less: Current portion of First Lien Term Loan Facility    (9,500)    (9,500) 
Less: Current portion of Bank Term Debt (held by non-Guarantor

subsidiary)    (1,953)    (1,340) 
    

 
    

 

Long-term portion   $ 1,366,966   $ 1,334,465 
    

 

    

 

First Lien Credit Agreement

The Group’s First Lien Credit Agreement includes a First Lien Term Loan Facility in the aggregate initial principal amount of $950,000 and a
Revolving Facility in the aggregate principal amount of up to $175,000. The First Lien Term Loan Facility has a maturity date of March 31, 2024 and
the Revolving Facility has a maturity date of December 31, 2023.

In addition to the payments pursuant to scheduled maturities of the First Lien Term Loan Facility, principal payments can be made at any time
without prepayment or penalty. The Group is required to make mandatory prepayments in an amount equal to 50% of excess cash flow, if and to the
extent that excess cash flow for the fiscal year exceeds $10,000, with step-downs subject to the achievement of certain leverage ratios. There is no
mandatory prepayment expected to be made during 2021 for the year ended December 31, 2020 based on the calculation set forth in the agreement
governing the First Lien Term Loan Facility.
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“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 

The First Lien Credit Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants, including financial covenants of a Consolidated First Lien Secured
Debt to Consolidated EBITDA Ratio covenant. In conjunction with the issuance of the 2020 Note Facility (see below), the covenants for the
Revolving Facility were revised to suspend the Consolidated First Lien Secured Debt to Consolidated EBITDA Ratio covenant until the maturity of
the Revolving Credit Line. Instead, it requires minimum liquidity of $25,000 at the end of each month through to December 2023. If (i) liquidity falls
below $40,000; or (ii) is forecasted in the next 3 months to fall under $25,000, the First Lien Credit Agreement covenants require the shareholders to
commit up to an additional $65,000 in cash under the same terms as the 2020 Note Facility to stay above the $40,000 liquidity threshold until the
$65,000 is exhausted.

Dividends or other distributions and payments (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect to any equity interest of the borrowers are
limited subject to certain exceptions set forth in the First Lien Credit Agreement, as applicable.

2020 Note Facility

On August 10, 2020, in connection with management’s plan to ensure sufficient operating cash given the impact of due to COVID-19, the Group
issued a new $200,000 note, which was acquired by its existing shareholders (See Note 10, Related Party Transactions). On September 9, 2020, the
Group issued an additional $50,000 of notes under the 2020 Note Facility to unrelated third parties. The new debt total of $250,000 is referred to as
the “2020 Note Facility”. The 2020 Note Facility matures in 2025.

The interest rates under the facilities are as follows:

First Lien Credit Agreement

At the option of the Group, initially, the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 4.00% or Alternate Base Rate (ABR) plus
3.00%.

The applicable LIBOR margins shall be subject (i) to a step-down to 3.75% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of
3.75:1.0 and (ii) to a step-down to 3.50% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of 3.25:1.0. The applicable ABR
margins shall be subject (i) to a step-down to 2.75% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of 3.75:1.0 and (ii) to a
step-down to 2.50% based upon achievement of a First Lien Leverage Ratio of 3.25:1.0. Accrued interest balances incurred on the First
Lien Credit Agreement were included within Accounts payable and other accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 in the amounts of $8,248 and $8,377, respectively.

The Borrowers must also pay each revolving credit lender a facility fee from August 10, 2020 to the termination of the revolving
facility based on aggregate commitments, which may be paid as a cash facility fee at a rate of 6.00% per annum, or a PIK facility fee at
a rate of 7.50% per annum.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 

2020 Note Facility

The interest rate on the 2020 Notes is 18%, payable in kind (“PIK”), without an election to pay in cash, and therefore interest is accrued
at the stated 18% rate and accumulates as additional principal owed at maturity.

Bank Term Debt held by non-Guarantor subsidiary

In 2020 and 2021, a subsidiary (which is not a Guarantor of the First Lien Term Loan Facility) issued a series of bank term loan facilities to ensure
sufficient cash for operations during COVID-19. The outstanding balances of these loans totaled $8,460 (restated Euro denominated loan balances) as
of June 30, 2021. The loans are payable over terms of 3-5 years, and bear interest rates of LIBOR plus 1.5%-3%.

Due to the variable nature of the interest rates for the First Lien Term Loan Facility, and recent issuance of the 2020 Note and Revolving Line and
consistent risk rating and external factors from the issuance period to periods ended June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the fair value of the debt
approximates the carrying value disclosed above.

 
12. Equity Based Compensation

Equity based compensation is utilized by management as an incentive to employees, tying performance-based compensation to operating results over
specified periods of time. Equity awards are granted subject to approval by the Board of Directors. Profit Interest Unit awards (“PIUs”) contain
various vesting conditions. The time vesting condition stipulates that the awards vest 20% per year on each of the first five anniversaries of the grant
date. Such awards fully satisfy the time vesting condition upon a change in control of the Group. The ultimate vesting of the PIUs only occurs upon a
change in ownership or business acquisition (performance condition) in which the controlling shareholders of the Group receive a minimum rate of
return on their initial investment (market condition). Upon a termination by the Group other than for cause or poor performance, or termination due to
disability, death or for a good reason, a number of PIUs proportional to the service provided will be deemed to have satisfied the time-vesting
condition and shall remain outstanding and eligible to satisfy the performance and market vesting conditions. Awards are forfeited if termination is
for cause, performance, or by the employee without good reason within five years of the closing date.

On December 18, 2020, the Group issued a new category (“Class B’) of PIUs. The Class B units are subject to the same vesting conditions as the
previously issued units (hereinafter referred to as “Class A”), except that the Class B PIUs are not subject to the same market condition (minimum
rate of return) for vesting as the Class A PIUs. On April 29, 2021, the Group issued a new category (Class C”) of PIUs. The 1,000,000 Class C PIUs
were issued to the non-executive chair of the general partner’s Board. The Class C awards are subject to the same time conditions as the Class B
awards. The Group’s parent company had previously amended the Profits Interest Plan on October 30, 2019 to provide for an additional form of
award under a new plan, the 2019 Equity Appreciation Unit Plan (“EAU’s”). The EAUs are subject to similar terms and conditions as the Class A
PIUs and the fair value of the awards are not material. The authorized limit covering both Class A PIUs and EAUs was 7,203,265 and the authorized
limit covering Class B PIUs is 10,000,000 as of June 30, 2021. There is no authorized limit for the Class C awards.
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(in thousands, except for units)
 

The table below shows units by category, which were issued, forfeited, and outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the six months
ended June 30, 2021:

 
(Units issued in actual amounts below)                 
   Class A PIUs   EAUs    Class B PIUs   Class C PIUs 
Outstanding at December 31, 2020    6,158,948    84,359    7,300,000    —   

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Issued in 2021    15,000    —      —      1,000,000 
Forfeited/Repurchased in 2021    (44,942)    (7,669)    (25,000)    —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Outstanding at June 30, 2021    6,129,006    76,690    7,275,000    1,000,000 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The Group estimates the likelihood of achieving the performance conditions and does not recognize the cost of share-based compensation for PIU
awards with performance conditions if it concludes that it is not probable that the performance condition will be achieved. Awards that vest on the
consummation of a change in ownership or business acquisition are recognized when the ownership change or acquisition is considered probable. The
Group has determined that as of June 30, 2021 it is not probable that the performance conditions will be achieved, and as such, has not recognized any
cost for share-based compensation for any of the PIU or EAU awards. The fair value of the PIU and EAU awards issued to employees are remeasured
on each balance sheet date. As of June 30, 2021 there was total cumulative unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to Class A,
Class B and Class C PIUs of approximately $677, $1,971, and $270, respectively, based on respective fair values as of the end of the period of $0.11,
$0.27, and $0.27 per PIU class, respectively. Such expense will begin to be recognized only when it becomes probable the performance conditions
will be achieved.

Since the Group’s parent company is not publicly traded, the fair value of PIUs is determined by first determining an enterprise value of its parent
company. The enterprise value was discounted for lack of marketability to arrive at the fair market value of the PIUs, which was derived using a risk-
neutral simulation method. Since the Group’s parent company is not publicly traded, the assumptions included in the risk-neutral simulation method
were based on the terms of the PIUs, along with inputs including the risk-free rate, expected volatility and expected term. The annual risk-free rate for
periods within the contractual life of the equity awards was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatilities
were based on implied volatilities from market comparisons of certain comparable publicly traded companies and other factors.

 
13. Income Tax

ALG determines its provision for income taxes for interim periods using an estimate of its annual effective tax rate. ALG records any changes
affecting the estimated annual effective tax rate in the interim period in which the change occurs, including discrete items.

For the six months ended June 30, 2021, the effective tax rate was a 0.4% charge on a pre-tax loss, compared to a 1.3% benefit on pre-tax loss for the
six months ended June 30, 2020. The effective tax rate for the period reflects no tax benefit being recorded on a pretax loss in the US and several
foreign jurisdictions, where ALG continues to be in a three-year cumulative loss position.

ALG is in a three-year cumulative loss position in the US, Europe, and select Latin American countries. The Company quarterly assesses the need for
valuation allowance on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis. ALG assessed the need for a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets,

 
16



“Apple Leisure Group” Casablanca Global Intermediate Holdings, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
For the Period Ended June 30, 2021
 

(in thousands, except for units)
 

considering both positive and negative evidence, including the cumulative three-year pre-tax loss position. ALG continues to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation allowance at each reporting date and at June 30, 2021, its valuation allowance was $214,000.

 
14. Subsequent Events

The Group has evaluated subsequent events through the issuance of these financial statements on September 20, 2021, and determined that there have
been no events that have occurred that would require adjustments to the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements except for the transactions
described below.

On August 14, 2021, Hyatt Hotels Corporation (“Parent”), acting through an affiliate (“Purchaser” and together with Parent, the “Company” or
“Hyatt”), agreed to acquire the Group, pursuant to a definitive Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”). Under the
Securities Purchase Agreement, Purchaser agreed to acquire 100% of the outstanding limited partnership interests in ALG and 100% of the
outstanding ordinary shares of the General Partner (the “Acquired Entities”), from Seller (the “Transaction”). Parent entered into the Securities
Purchase Agreement to fully guarantee all of Purchaser’s obligations under the Securities Purchase Agreement.

The consideration to be paid by the Company at the closing of the Transaction is $2.7 billion, subject to customary adjustments set forth in the
Securities Purchase Agreement relating to working capital, cash and indebtedness of the Acquired Entities and their respective subsidiaries. The
Securities Purchase Agreement also provides for contingent consideration payable to Seller in an amount equal to $69.0 million following the closing
of the Transaction upon the achievement (if ever) of certain targets related to ALG’s outstanding travel credits. The Securities Purchase Agreement
provides that the closing of the Transaction is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of customary closing conditions. The Securities Purchase
Agreement contains customary termination rights for both the Company and Seller, whereby such parties may terminate the Securities Purchase
Agreement (i) by mutual consent, (ii) following a final, nonappealable permanent legal or governmental order prohibiting the consummation of the
Transaction, or (iii) following a breach of the representations, warranties, agreements or covenants contained in the Securities Purchase Agreement
which would cause the closing conditions not to be satisfied if not curable, by the August 14, 2022.

On September 7, 2021, the Group acquired the noncontrolling equity interest attributable to Alua for cash consideration payable of $31,565,
contingent on the closing of the sale to Hyatt described in the previous paragraph, with maximum additional contingent consideration of $5,593.
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Exhibit 99.5

HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

On August 14, 2021, Hyatt Hotels Corporation agreed to acquire all of the outstanding equity interests of Apple Leisure Group (“ALG”), a leading
luxury resort-management services, travel, and hospitality group, pursuant to a definitive Securities Purchase Agreement (“SPA”), for total consideration of
$2.7 billion, subject to customary adjustments set forth in the SPA relating to working capital, cash, and indebtedness. The SPA also provides for contingent
consideration following the closing of the transaction upon the achievement, if ever, of certain targets related to ALG’s outstanding travel credits. The
transaction is expected to be funded with a combination of cash on hand and proceeds from new debt and equity financings.

Unless otherwise specified or required by the context, references in this report to “we,” “our,” “us,” “Hyatt,” and the “Company” refer to Hyatt Hotels
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries, and references to the “transaction” refer to the acquisition of ALG and the related
financings. Throughout this report, the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, associated adjustments, and related
financial information are referred to as the “pro forma balance sheet,” the “pro forma statement(s) of income (loss),” and the “notes to the pro forma
financial statements,” collectively, the “pro forma financial statements.” The pro forma financial statements are condensed and unaudited, and also
combined, except where such information by its presentation or context applies only to Hyatt or ALG.

The accompanying pro forma financial statements are based on Hyatt’s historical consolidated financial statements and ALG’s historical consolidated
financial statements as adjusted to give effect to the transaction, which is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2021, subject to customary closing
conditions. The pro forma statements of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 give effect to the
transaction as if it had occurred on January 1, 2020. The pro forma balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 gives effect to the transaction as if it had occurred on
that day.

The transaction accounting adjustments consist of those necessary to account for the transaction in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The pro forma financial statements do not necessarily reflect what the combined company’s financial
condition or results of operations would have been had the transaction and the related financing occurred on the dates indicated. The pro forma financial
statements also may not be useful in predicting the future financial condition and results of operations of the combined company following the transaction.
Actual financial condition and results of operations may differ significantly from the pro forma financial statement amounts reflected herein due to a variety
of factors.

The assumed accounting for the transaction is based on provisional amounts and the associated purchase accounting is not final. The preliminary
allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities of ALG was based on preliminary estimates of fair value. The pro forma
financial statement adjustments are based on available information as of the date of this filing and certain assumptions that the Company believes are
reasonable under the circumstances. All pro forma financial statement adjustments and their underlying assumptions are described more fully in the notes to
the pro forma financial information.

The accompanying pro forma financial statements were prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
Regulation S-X. The historical consolidated financial information within the pro forma financial statements has been adjusted to give effect to
reclassification adjustments, financing adjustments and the transaction accounting adjustments. The pro forma financial statements do not give effect to any
cost savings, operating synergies or revenue synergies that may result from the transaction, or the costs to achieve any such synergies.

Hyatt’s historical consolidated financial statements as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2021 include the effects of the disposition of Hyatt
Regency Lost Pines Resort and Spa. The sale resulted in a $104 million pre-tax gain, and the sale was not considered a disposition of a significant portion of
Hyatt’s business. Based on the guidance set forth in Article 11 of SEC Regulation S-X, Hyatt did not eliminate the effects of this disposition from the pro
forma financial statements presented herein.



HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)

For the six months ended June 30, 2021
(In millions of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

   
Hyatt 

(Historical)   
ALG 

(Historical)  

Reclassification
Adjustments 

(Note 3)   

Financing 
Adjustments 

(Note 4)   

Transaction 
Accounting 
Adjustments

(Note 4)   
Pro Forma 
Combined  

REVENUES:        
Owned and leased hotels   $ 295  $ —   $ —   $ —    $ —    $ 295
Management, franchise, and other fees    156   —     19   —     —     175
Contra revenue    (17)   —     —     —     —     (17) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net management, franchise, and other fees    139   —     19   —     —     158
Other revenues    41   345   (19)   —     (42) (b)   325
Revenues for the reimbursement of costs incurred

on behalf of managed and franchised properties    626   25   —     —     —     651
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total revenues    1,101   370   —     —     (42)   1,429
DIRECT AND SELLING, GENERAL, AND

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES:        
Owned and leased hotels    298   —     —     —     —     298
Depreciation and amortization    148   39   —     —     25 (d)(e)   212
Other direct costs    47   76   224   —     (17) (b)   330
Selling, general, and administrative    181   264   (227)   —     —     218
Costs incurred on behalf of managed and

franchised properties    652   26   —     —     —     678
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Direct and selling, general, and
administrative expenses    1,326   405   (3)   —     8   1,736

Net gains and interest income from marketable
securities held to fund rabbi trusts    36   —     —     —     —     36

Equity earnings from unconsolidated hospitality
ventures    20   —     —     —     —     20

Interest expense    (83)   (60)   —     (6) (g)   60 (g)   (89) 
Gains on sales of real estate and other    105   —     —     —     —     105
Asset impairments    (2)   —     —     —     —     (2) 
Other income (loss), net    37   —     (3)   —     (1) (i)   33

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES    (112)   (95)   —     (6)   9   (204) 
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES    (201)   —     —     —     —   (f)   (201) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

NET INCOME (LOSS)    (313)   (95)   —     (6)   9   (405) 
NET (INCOME) LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS    —     2   —     —     (2) (k)   —   
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO
HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION   $ (313)  $ (93)  $ —   $ (6)  $ 7  $ (405) 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

LOSSES PER SHARE—Basic and diluted        
Net loss   $ (3.07)      $ (3.74) 
Net loss attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation   $ (3.07)      $ (3.74) 
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES

OUTSTANDING        
Basic and diluted    101,713,331     6,633,059 (h)    108,346,390

See accompanying Notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.



HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)

For the year ended December 31, 2020
(In millions of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

   
Hyatt 

(Historical)   
ALG 

(Historical)  

Reclassification
Adjustments 

(Note 3)   

Financing 
Adjustments 

(Note 4)   

Transaction 
Accounting 
Adjustments

(Note 4)   
Pro Forma 
Combined  

REVENUES:        
Owned and leased hotels   $ 513  $ —   $ 7  $ —    $ —    $ 520
Management, franchise, and other fees    239   —     24   —     —     263
Contra revenue    (30)   —     —     —     —     (30) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net management, franchise, and other fees    209   —     24   —     —     233
Other revenues    58   407   (31)   —     (73) (b)   361
Revenues for the reimbursement of costs

incurred on behalf of managed and franchised
properties    1,286   42   —     —     —     1,328

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues    2,066   449   —     —     (73)   2,442
DIRECT AND SELLING, GENERAL, AND

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES:        
Owned and leased hotels    627   —     11   —     —     638
Depreciation and amortization    310   92   —     —     35 (d)(e)   437
Other direct costs    65   110   365   —     (13) (b)(j)   527
Selling, general, and administrative    321   462   (405)   —     106 (j)   484
Costs incurred on behalf of managed and

franchised properties    1,375   44   —     —     —     1,419
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Direct and selling, general, and
administrative expenses    2,698   708   (29)   —     128   3,505

Net gains and interest income from marketable
securities held to fund rabbi trusts    60   —     —     —     —     60

Equity losses from unconsolidated hospitality
ventures    (70)   —     —     —     —     (70) 

Interest expense    (128)   (84)   —     (19) (g)   84 (g)   (147) 
Losses on sales of real estate and other    (36)   —     —     —     —     (36) 
Asset impairments    (62)   (487)   —     —     —     (549) 
Other income (loss), net    (92)   2   (29)   —     (61) (i)   (180) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES    (960)   (828)   —     (19)   (178)   (1,985) 
BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES    257   22   —     7 (f)   10 (f)   296

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

NET LOSS    (703)   (806)   —     (12)   (168)   (1,689) 
NET (INCOME) LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS    —     5   —     —     (5) (k)   —   
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HYATT
HOTELS CORPORATION   $ (703)  $ (801)  $ —   $ (12)  $ (173)  $ (1,689) 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

LOSSES PER SHARE—Basic and diluted        
Net loss   $ (6.93)      $ (15.64) 
Net loss attributable to Hyatt Hotels Corporation   $ (6.93)      $ (15.64) 
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES

OUTSTANDING        
Basic and diluted    101,325,394     6,633,059 (h)    107,958,453

See accompanying Notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.



HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

As of June 30, 2021
(In millions of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

   
Hyatt 

(Historical)  
ALG 

(Historical)  

Reclassification
Adjustments 

(Note 3)   

Financing 
Adjustments

(Note 4)   

Transaction 
Accounting 
Adjustments

(Note 4)   
Pro Forma
Combined  

ASSETS        
CURRENT ASSETS:        

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,144  $ 695  $ —    $ 1,675 (g)(h)  $ (3,254) (b)(i)  $ 260
Restricted cash    18   38   —     —     (16) (c)   40
Short-term investments    593   —     —     —     —     593
Receivables, net    360   108   2   —     —     470
Inventories    9   —     —     —     —     9
Prepaids and other assets    64   108   (2)   —     (16) (b)(i)   154
Prepaid income taxes    286   —     —     —     —     286

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current assets    2,474   949   —     1,675   (3,286)   1,812
Equity method investments    262   —     —     —     —     262
Property and equipment, net    3,121   24   —     —     —   (d)   3,145
Financing receivables, net    26   —     16   —     —     42
Operating lease right-of-use assets    465   —     —     —     60 (a)   525
Goodwill    288   626   —     —     1,377 (b)   2,291
Intangibles, net    369   354   —     —     1,426 (e)   2,149
Deferred tax assets    16   8   —     —     —   (f)   24
Other assets    1,941   294   (16)   —     (195) (b)(i)   2,024

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL ASSETS   $ 8,962  $ 2,255  $ —    $ 1,675  $ (618)  $ 12,274
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        
CURRENT LIABILITIES:        

Current maturities of long-term debt   $ 260  $ 11  $ —    $ 498 (g)  $ (11) (g)  $ 758
Accounts payable    110   551   (215)   —     —     446
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    198   —     70   —     49 (b)(g)(i)   317
Current contract liabilities    311   690   111   —     (36) (b)   1,076
Accrued compensation and benefits    108   —     34   —     —     142
Current operating lease liabilities    30   —     —     —     4 (a)   34

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    1,017   1,252   —     498   6   2,773
Long-term debt    2,986   1,367   —     697 (g)   (1,367) (g)   3,683
Long-term contract liabilities    667   686   —     —     (454) (b)   899
Long-term operating lease liabilities    367   —     —     —     56 (a)   423
Other long-term liabilities    1,016   149   —     —     —   (f)   1,165

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total liabilities    6,053   3,454   —     1,195   (1,759)   8,943
Commitments and contingencies        
EQUITY:        

Preferred stock    —     —     —     —     —     —   
Common stock    1   —     —     —     —     1
Additional paid-in-capital    47   519   —     480 (h)   (519) (b)   527
Retained earnings    3,076   (1,713)   —     —     1,655 (b)(i)   3,018
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (218)   (2)   —     —     2 (b)   (218) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    2,906   (1,196)   —     480   1,138   3,328
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries    3   (3)   —     —     3 (k)   3
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total equity    2,909   (1,199)   —     480   1,141   3,331
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   $ 8,962  $ 2,255  $ —    $ 1,675  $ (618)  $ 12,274
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying Notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.



HYATT HOTELS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(amounts in millions of dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
(Unaudited)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

In May 2020, the SEC adopted Release No. 33-10786 “Amendments to Financial Disclosures about Acquired and Disposed Businesses” (the “Final
Rule”), which was effective on January 1, 2021. The pro forma financial statements and related notes are presented in accordance with the Final Rule.

Adjustments included in the “transaction accounting adjustments” column in the pro forma financial statements depict the accounting for the
transaction required by GAAP. Transaction accounting adjustments reflect the application of required accounting principles to the transaction, applying the
effects of the transaction to Hyatt’s historical financial information. Certain of ALG’s historical amounts have been reclassified to conform to Hyatt’s
financial statement presentation, as discussed further in Note 3. The pro forma financial statements should be read in conjunction with (1) our unaudited
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the six months ended June 30, 2021 filed
with the SEC on August 4, 2021; (2) our audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the SEC on February 18, 2021; and (3) ALG’s historical audited financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and historical unaudited financial statements as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and accompanying notes, which are
incorporated by reference as Exhibit 99.3 and Exhibit 99.4, respectively, to this Current Report on Form 8-K.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations, the transaction will be accounted for using the
acquisition method of accounting with Hyatt as the acquirer and ALG as the acquiree. Certain valuations and assessments, including valuations of property
and equipment, intangible assets, liabilities, and the associated income tax impacts are still in process. The estimated fair values used in the accompanying
pro forma financial statements are preliminary and represent our current best estimate of fair value as of the date of filing but are subject to revision as
valuations and assumptions are finalized. Changes in the fair values of the assets and liabilities between the preliminary estimates and final purchase
accounting could have a material impact on the accompanying pro forma financial statements. In addition, the notes herein contain certain assumptions that
could have a material impact on the accompanying pro forma financial statements.

In December 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) released an exposure draft, “Proposed Accounting Standards Update:
Business Combinations (Topic 805), Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers.” The proposed accounting
standards update would require an acquirer to measure contract assets and contract liabilities in accordance with the guidance in ASC 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. If the proposed accounting standard is finalized this year by the FASB as drafted and early adopted by Hyatt, it could have a
material impact on the valuation of certain assets and liabilities acquired in this transaction.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

During preparation of the pro forma financial statements, we performed a preliminary review of ALG’s accounting policies and determined that
certain adjustments, described below, are necessary to conform ALG’s historical financial statements to Hyatt’s accounting policies and financial statement
presentation in the pro forma financial statements.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of the pro forma financial statements are those set out in Hyatt’s consolidated financial statements as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. Following the closing of the transaction, we will finalize our review of ALG’s accounting policies, and we
may identify differences that, when adjusted or reclassified, could have a material impact on the pro forma financial statements.

 
 (a) Leases

Hyatt adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02 (“ASU 2016-02”), Leases (Topic 842), and Accounting Standards Update No. 2018-11
(“ASU 2018-11”), Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements on January 1, 2019. ALG was not required to adopt ASU 2016-02 or ASU 2018-11 prior to
the time of the transaction. The primary impact of adoption relates



to the recognition of operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities on the pro forma balance sheet. The pro forma balance sheet at
June 30, 2021 includes a provisional adjustment to record $60 million of operating ROU assets, $4 million of current operating lease liabilities, and
$56 million of long-term operating lease liabilities to conform ALG’s historical balance sheet at June 30, 2021 and reflect the adoption of Leases (Topic
842).

 
3. RECLASSIFICATION ADJUSTMENTS

Reclassification adjustments were made to conform ALG’s historical financial statements to Hyatt’s presentation within the pro forma financial
statements.

On the pro forma statement of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2021, we reclassified the following:
 

 •  $19 million from other revenues to management, franchise, and other fees revenues
 

 

•  $225 million from selling, general, and administrative expenses to other direct costs, which primarily relates to expenses associated with
ALG’s membership offering, Unlimited Vacation Club (“UVC”), and travel distribution business, ALG Vacations (“Vacations”). Following
the close of the transaction, we will continue to review UVC and Vacations revenues and expenses to determine the appropriate financial
statement presentation for these businesses on a prospective basis.

 

 •  $1 million from other direct costs and $2 million from selling, general, and administrative expenses to other income (loss), net

On the pro forma statement of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2020, we reclassified the following:
 

 •  $7 million from other revenues to owned and leased hotels revenues related to leased properties in Europe
 

 •  $24 million from other revenues to management, franchise, and other fees revenues
 

 •  $11 million from selling, general, and administrative expenses to owned and leased hotels expenses related to leased properties in Europe
 

 
•  $375 million from selling, general, and administrative expenses to other direct costs, which primarily relates to expenses associated with UVC

and Vacations. Following the close of the transaction, we will continue to review UVC and Vacations revenues and expenses to determine the
appropriate financial statement presentation for these businesses on a prospective basis.

 

 •  $10 million from other direct costs and $19 million from selling, general, and administrative expenses to other income (loss), net, which
primarily relates to restructuring expenses

On the pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021, we reclassified the following:
 

 •  $2 million from prepaids and other assets to receivables, net
 

 •  $16 million from other assets to financing receivables, net
 

 •  $111 million from accounts payable to current contract liabilities
 

 •  $70 million from accounts payable to accrued expenses and other current liabilities
 

 •  $34 million from accounts payable to accrued compensation and benefits



4. TRANSACTION ACCOUNTING ADJUSTMENTS

(b) Purchase Price Consideration and Allocation

Based on ALG’s unaudited financial information at June 30, 2021, we estimated $2,550 million of preliminary cash consideration, which includes the
purchase price of $2,700 million, net of estimated working capital and contingent consideration adjustments. The transaction is on a cash-free, debt-free
basis and includes $69 million of potential additional consideration if the achievement of certain targets related to ALG’s outstanding travel credits are met.
We did not record a transaction accounting adjustment related to the contingent consideration on the pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021 as we do not
believe it is probable that the targets will be met.

The pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021 is adjusted for the preliminary estimates of fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a
result of the transaction. The preliminary purchase accounting adjustments include a $220 million reduction in deferred cost assets and a $490 million
reduction in contract liabilities associated with the UVC business. The fair value of the deferred cost assets was based on the probable future economic
benefit to the combined company, and the fair value of the contract liabilities was estimated based on the costs to fulfill future obligations. Except for the
aforementioned adjustments to deferred cost assets and contract liabilities, the book value of ALG’s historical working capital accounts approximate fair
value, therefore no transaction accounting adjustments have been made to these accounts on the pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021.

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
 

Assets acquired   $ 404 
Intangible assets    1,780 
Goodwill    2,003 
Liabilities assumed    (1,637) 

    
 

Total net assets acquired   $ 2,550 
    

 

Goodwill is attributable to the growth opportunities we expect to realize by expanding our global brand presence in new markets and enhancing guest
experiences through the acquired luxury leisure travel brands and is not expected to be tax deductible. The final purchase price allocation will be determined
after the closing of the transaction and will be completed within the measurement period, which is up to one year from the closing date. The final valuation
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed may be materially different than the estimated values assumed in the pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021.

As a result of the aforementioned transaction accounting adjustments to the deferred cost assets and contract liabilities associated with the UVC
business, we also eliminated $42 million and $73 million of other revenues and $17 million and $33 million of other direct costs recognized on the pro
forma statements of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively.

(c) Restricted cash

The adjustment on the pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021 eliminates $16 million of estimated restricted cash balances that we do not expect to
retain upon close of the transaction.

(d) Property and equipment, net

We have not recorded any adjustments to the book value of property and equipment on the pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021 or depreciation
expense on the pro forma statements of income (loss) for six months ended June 30, 2021 or the year ended December 31, 2020. The fair values of property
and equipment acquired will be determined following the acquisition date and are expected to be insignificant to the overall purchase price allocation.



(e) Intangibles, net

The pro forma financial statements reflect preliminary estimates of the fair values of identifiable intangible assets acquired by Hyatt. The estimated
fair values are based on available information as of the date of this filing.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the identifiable intangible assets acquired and the estimated useful lives of the definite-
lived intangible assets, which will be amortized using the straight-line method:
 

 

          Amortization expense  

  Fair value   Useful lives in years   
Six Months Ended

June 30, 2021   
Year Ended 

December 31, 2020 
Brand intangibles   $ 665    Indefinite   $ —    $ —   
Customer relationship intangibles    640    4–13    43   88 
Management agreement intangibles    475    16–17    15   29 

    
 

      
 

   
 

Identifiable intangible assets   $ 1,780     $ 58  $ 117 
Historical ALG definite-lived intangible assets

amortization expense        33   82 
        

 
   

 

Transaction accounting adjustment       $ 25  $ 35 
        

 

   

 

The weighted-average estimated useful life for acquired definite-lived intangible assets is approximately 12 years. These preliminary estimates of fair
value and estimated useful lives may differ once the purchase price allocation is finalized during the measurement period following the closing of the
transaction. A 10% change in the fair value of intangible assets would increase or decrease amortization expense on the pro forma statements of income
(loss) by approximately $6 million and $12 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively.

(f) Taxes

Effective tax rates were applied, as appropriate, to each financing and transaction accounting adjustment based on the jurisdiction in which the
adjustment is expected to occur. There is no tax impact to the pro forma statement of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2021 due to Hyatt and
ALG’s historical valuation allowance positions and certain adjustments that are not subject to tax in the expected jurisdictions. The effective tax rate of the
combined company could be significantly different depending on the post-acquisition geographical mix of income and other factors.

We did not record transaction accounting adjustments related to deferred tax assets or liabilities from the preliminary purchase price allocation on the
pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021. We estimated no deferred taxes would be recorded on book to tax basis differences as a result of the intangibles
not being subject to tax in certain jurisdictions and because of the aforementioned valuation allowances recorded against certain deferred tax assets on Hyatt
and ALG’s historical balance sheets at June 30, 2021. Additional information is needed to complete the purchase price allocation for tax purposes and
related adjustments to deferred taxes, which could significantly impact goodwill or income tax expense following the acquisition date.

(g) Debt Financings

We have assumed an issuance of $700 million of fixed-rate senior notes with an estimated three-year term and a $500 million term loan with an
estimated one-year term and one-year extension option as part of the financing for the transaction. The pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021 is adjusted
for $1,195 million of assumed proceeds from the debt financings, net of $5 million of estimated underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. In
accordance with the SPA, we will not acquire ALG’s existing $1,378 million of debt and $9 million



of accrued interest included on their historical balance sheet, and accordingly, we eliminated $60 million and $84 million of ALG’s historical interest
expense on the pro forma statements of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. The pro
forma financial statements have not been adjusted for the impact of any prepayment penalties that may be assessed upon repayment of ALG’s existing debt.
In accordance with the SPA, any such fees will remain an obligation of the seller. The final debt proceeds and related interest expense may be materially
different from the estimated values assumed in the pro forma financial statements.

The pro forma statements of income (loss) include $6 million and $19 million of increases in interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021
and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively, calculated using assumed market rates for the senior notes and term loan. These increases are inclusive
of amortization expense on the aforementioned estimated underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. A 1/8% change in the interest rates would
increase or decrease interest expense on the pro forma statements of income (loss) by approximately $1 million and $2 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. The interest rates assumed for the pro forma financial statements could be significantly
different than actual interest rates on any debt issued to finance the transaction based on market rates and other factors at that time.

(h) Equity Financing

We have assumed an issuance of $500 million of our Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, as part of the financing for the transaction.
The pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021 assumes an estimated offering price of $75.38 per share, which reflects the last reported sales price of our
Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on September 17, 2021, and would result in the issuance of approximately 6,633 thousand shares
of Class A common stock, subject to changes in stock price, among other factors. We estimated $480 million of total proceeds from the equity offering, net
of $20 million of estimated issuance costs, which we intend to use towards the purchase consideration. The final equity proceeds may be materially different
from the estimated values assumed in the pro forma financial statements.

(i) Transaction Costs

We estimate $67 million of non-recurring transaction costs will be incurred by Hyatt and ALG, of which $58 million is included in other income
(loss), net on the pro forma statement of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2020 and in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the pro
forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021. The remaining $9 million relates to additional insurance premiums for new polices purchased in conjunction with the
transaction. The insurance premiums associated with these policies are amortized over three years, and the pro forma balance sheet includes $3 million in
prepaid and other assets, $6 million in other assets, and a $9 million reduction in cash related to these insurance policies. The pro forma statements of
income (loss) include $1 million and $3 million of expense within other income (loss), net for the amortization of the aforementioned insurance policies for
the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively.

(j) Equity-Based Compensation

The pro forma statement of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2020 includes adjustments of $106 million of selling, general, and
administrative expenses and $20 million of other direct costs associated with certain of ALG’s equity-based compensation awards, which include change in
control provisions that will result in the acceleration of compensation expense upon closing of the transaction. The estimated compensation expense is based
on ALG’s preliminary valuation of the awards and is expected to have no tax impact. Upon finalization, compensation expense could differ materially from
the preliminary estimate included herein. In accordance with the SPA, the compensation expense will remain an obligation of the seller.

(k) Noncontrolling Interest

In accordance with the SPA, ALG will purchase the remaining interest in an existing joint venture and as a result, ALG will own 100% of the joint
venture. We eliminated the historical impact of the noncontrolling interest on the pro forma statements of income (loss) for the six months ended June 30,
2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 and the pro forma balance sheet at June 30, 2021.


